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Board of Directors’ Report 2012 
Telio Holding ASA 

Summary
The Group’s activities, as stated in the articles of association, are to develop and sell IP based services and 
communications solutions, operate consultancy activities and participate in other enterprises. The parent company, Telio 
Holding ASA, is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and is traded under the ticker ‘telio’. 

Telio is a European service provider within IP based communication. The Group provides pure IP services and 
traditional telecommunication services through broadband telephony as substitute for ordinary PSTN telephony and the 
company works to continuously develop innovative and customer friendly services. The Group’s products can together, 
using the Internet and broadband, replace, improve and expand traditional fixed and mobile telephony with competitively 
priced solutions. Telio’s flexible, scalable and access independent technology platform enables the Group to quickly 
develop and commercialize new products and services. The company has in 2012 also introduced mobile services and 
fixed broadband services in the Norwegian market.  

The Telio Group has operations in Norway, Denmark, Switzerland and the Netherlands. In 2012, Telio sold services under 
its own brand to end users in Norway, Denmark and Switzerland. In the Netherlands, distribution is arranged through 
‘white label’ agreements under local brands.

The company has in 2012 introduced new services in the Norwegian market. Mobile services and fixed broadband 
services have been the basis for the growth in both customer intake and revenues that the company has experienced 
throughout 2012. As expected, this focus on growth has affected profitability negatively, taking into account operating 
profit and EBITDA in 2011 were negatively affected by a non-recurring cost of NOK 50 million related to VAT for 
previous years. Net revenues in 2012 ended at NOK 409.8 million (NOK 385.2 million in 2011). Operating profit was 
NOK 52.6 million (NOK 33.1 million in 2011) while EBITDA was NOK 94.5 million (NOK 71.8 million in 2011). 

A major event in 2012 was sign-off on an agreement to acquire 100% of the shares in NextGenTel AS from TeliaSonera. 
The acquisition was completed on 31 January 2013.

Products and services
The strong focus on product development has continued in 2012.  In addition to continued improvements of existing 
products and services, the company has implemented a mobile MVNO agreement with Netcom (TeliaSonera) and 
introduced attractive mobile subscriptions in the residential and business market. Telio has also entered into a wholesale 
agreement with NextGenTel in order to provide fixed broadband services in the residential market.

Telio Mobile was re-introduced in the Norwegian market in January 2012 following the MVNO agreement with Netcom. 
This gave Telio the possibility to take the position as a low cost mobile provider in the residential market with focus on the 
immigrant segment and offering low price mobile subscriptions combined with cloud based switchboard to the business 
market.

Telio Mobile for Residential was introduced in the market to primarily target customers who call frequently, 
particularly to international destinations. The product allows the customer to call from the same mobile fixed price 
package regardless if the customers call to national or international destinations. This offering has been successful and 
Telio has increased its customer base on mobile subscriptions to 17,000 at the end of 2012.

Telio Mobile for Business was introduced in the market to target SMEs with a complete product line expanding the 
company’s reach to the business segment. The mobile solution offers attractive low cost subscription and cloud based 
functionalities that increase the efficiency for the customer. The subscription base has grown to 7,000 at the end of 2012. 

Telio Bedriftsnett (web-based switchboard) was introduced in the Norwegian market in Q3 2011. This is an intelligent 
cloud based switchboard for companies. This solution can easily be integrated with both IP and mobile subscriptions and 
gives the customers an intelligent way of handling their incoming calls. The customer base has grown to 3,800 
subscriptions at the end of 2012.  
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Telio Broadband was introduced in the residential market in January 2012. This service expands Telio’s attractive 
product portfolio. Telio sees the broadband product as a great cross sale opportunity that will increase ARPU (average 
revenue per user) on existing customers and attract new customers. At the end of 2012, the company had a customer 
base of 5,000 subscriptions.
 
Telio Touch was launched in the Norwegian market in the third quarter of 2010. Telio Touch is a high-end telephone 
with HD voice quality. The product comprises a wireless Dect handset and a base that has a 7-inch touch screen. 
Through Telio Touch Service Suite, on the touch screen, users can find a wide variety of applications that enable them 
to keep on track with current news, check the weather forecast, check road traffic and public transport information, as 
well as watch YouTube videos, among others. At the end of 2012, the company had 7,000 customers on this product. 

Teliophone was launched in the Norwegian market during the fourth quarter of 2010. Teliophone is an app for iPhone 
and Android phones enabling unrestricted, high quality video and voice calling. Teliophone features unique set of 
standards based capabilities and user friendly provisioning. Through WLAN or 3G, with Teliophone it is possible to 
call any other number on the traditional fixed and mobile network as well as to other video and HD enabled terminals 
in Telio’s network (and soon in other networks). Teliophone is available through Apple’s (Norwegian) App store for 
Telio’s existing subscribers (both residential and SME). The company had 9,500 users of Teliophone at the end of 2012.

Goji and SkyCall apps for iPhone and Android phones were introduced during 2011 and the beginning of 2012. The 
SkyCall app is developed for Call Norwegian, a subsidiary of the airline Norwegian Air Shuttle. Norwegian was the 
first airline to introduce internet on-board the company’s flights in Europe and is through the agreement with Telio 
providing mobile IP telephony services to its passengers in Norway and abroad. The services are based on Telio’s highly 
recognized technology platform which provides a high user experience with HD sound and high quality video 
communication.

Distribution 
While profitable customer growth at affordable acquisition costs has been an important target for several years, the 
company has in 2012 been more aggressive in acquiring new customers. The new services introduced in 2012 
combined with increased sales efforts and expanded distribution has resulted in 
40, 000 net new customers for the Group in 2012. 

The residential market, particularly in Norway, has become more mature, causing a decline in the subscriber base. As a 
result, Telio has focused on establishing more efficient and cost effective sales channels to attract new customers in the 
Norwegian market. 

The business market has been a key focus area for Telio in 2012. Although it takes time to build distribution, the 
company has built an effective distribution model for direct and indirect sales to this market, resulting in good and 
steady growth in the customer base throughout the year. 

The Norwegian telecom market 
Telio has during 2012 confirmed its strong position in the market for broadband telephony in Norway. According to 
the report from the Norwegian Post and Telecom Authority for the first half of 2012, Telio is one of the largest 
operators in the residential and business VoIP market in Norway measured by both traffic minutes (37.9%) and by 
revenues (34.7%). Telio is the second largest operator in the total fixed phone market (PSTN, ISDN, VoIP) measured by 
traffic minutes with 18.8% market share in the residential market and 11.8% market share in the total fixed market.
 
International markets
The markets in Switzerland and the Netherlands have developed positively in 2012. Especially, the Dutch operation 
has achieved a strong growth and the customer base increased by 48% during 2012. Telio now has a customer base of 
75,000 subscribers in the Netherlands where the company has distribution agreements with wholesale partners. These 
wholesale partners offer different broadband, Internet and phone services to the end user market. Telio’s partners in 
the Netherlands are well positioned in a growing market. This long term cooperation is an acknowledgement of Telio’s 
strong technological platform and positions the company as a leading “white label” vendor for access independent 
broadband telephony.
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After the launch of services in the Swiss market in January 2010 the business did not develop as expected. Therefore, 
measures were introduced in January 2011 to reduce costs and capital expenditures due to slower growth than 
expected. After this, the business has developed positively with controlled growth and a positive EBITDA towards the 
end of the year. The company had 7,500 customers in Switzerland at the end of 2012.

The customer growth in Denmark has been slower than expected, while the company has been able to establish a sound 
profitability in the Danish operation. The company had 19,600 customers in Denmark at the end of 2012.

Financial development (2011 figures in brackets) 
Net revenues in 2012 ended at NOK 409.8 million in 2012 (NOK 385.2 million). This represents a revenue growth of 
6.4%. The revenue growth increased throughout the year with a growth of 17% in the fourth quarter (adjusted for 
currency effects).

The introduction of mobile services and fixed broadband services in the Norwegian market has been the basis for the 
growth in both customer intake and revenues that the company has experienced throughout 2012.  As expected, this 
increased growth gives increased customer acquisition costs affecting short term profitability. Also, the introduction 
of new services at lower gross margin has had a negative effect on profitability. EBITDA for the Group was NOK 94.5 
million (NOK 121.7 million), while operating profit (EBIT) was NOK 52.6 million (NOK 83.1 million). EBITDA and 
EBIT for 2011 are adjusted for non-recurring cost of NOK 50 million in VAT for previous years. Profit before tax was 
NOK 51.0 million (NOK 32.1 million) and profit after tax was NOK 37.1 million (NOK 30.3 million). Earnings per 
share were NOK 1.95 (NOK 1.59).

The Group has in-house research and development resources developing new products and services. The Group also 
engages external consultants for specific development projects. Development costs are capitalized in compliance with 
IFRS and NOK 14.5 million was capitalized in 2012 (see note 9 to the financial statements).

The Group had a net negative cash flow of NOK 44.6 million in 2012 (NOK 23.1 million) after payment of dividend of 
NOK 47.8 million (NOK 57.3 million) and payment of NOK 50 million in VAT for previous years. Total cash balance 
was NOK 52.5 million at the end of the year. 

The Group’s equity at the end of the financial year was NOK 14.2 million (NOK 21.9 million), which implies an 
equity ratio of 9.7 % (10.5 %).  At the end of 2012, the company owned 275,001 treasury shares (100,000 shares were 
sold during 2012 related to the exercise of share options).

The Group has prepared its accounts in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the EU. 

The parent company had a profit before tax of NOK 82.9 million (NOK 49.4 million) after receiving dividend from 
Telio SA and Telio IP Services BV of NOK 26.8 million and NOK 8.1 million respectively and group contribution from 
Telio Telecom AS and Telio Project AS of NOK 54.8 million and NOK 0.7 million respectively. The profit for the year 
after tax was NOK 69.2 million (NOK 50.0 million). At the end of the financial year, unrestricted equity after accrual 
for dividend (equity available for distribution) was NOK 71.1 million (NOK 4.4 million).  

Based on the financial position of the company after the acquisition of NextGenTel AS the board will not propose any 
dividend for 2012.

Distribution of profits
The board will propose the following distribution of profits in Telio Holding ASA (figures in NOK 1000):

To other equity    69,151
Total distribution   69 151
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Investments 
The Group has invested NOK 6.3 million (NOK 9.6 million) in IT equipment, primarily adapters and hardware 
infrastructure. The majority of investments in hardware are financed through a leasing agreement with IBM Global 
Finance, which is classified as a financial lease in the financial statements.   

Furthermore, total investments in intangible assets were NOK 38.2 million (NOK 26.7 million). Intangible assets 
include in-house developed technology platform and capitalized customer acquisition costs. The increase in intangible 
assets comes primarily from increased customer acquisition costs from the increased customer intake during 2012. 

On 19 December 2012, Telio Holding ASA signed an agreement to acquire 100% of the shares in NextGenTel AS from 
TeliaSonera. The acquisition was formally completed on 31 January 2013. Through the acquisition, Telio will become 
the number three provider of fixed broadband in the Norwegian market and the number two provider of xDSL 
broadband. The acquisition price was NOK 601 million on an enterprise value basis without any interest-bearing debt, 
but with cash holdings of NOK 30 million at closing of the acquisition. The acquisition is financed through senior loan 
facilities from Nordea totaling NOK 500 million and NOK 100 million in new shares. The acquisition represents a 
step-change for Telio as the company more than doubles its size and significantly broadens its product offering in its 
core Norwegian market. An Information Memorandum regarding this acquisition was issued by the company and 
published by Oslo Stock Exchange on 20 February 2013. Reference is made to this document for further details 
regarding the acquisition.

Financing 
The company has not issued any shares in 2012. The only financial debt in the company is a financial lease obligation 
related to lease of customer equipment. Following the acquisition of NextGenTel AS, a directed share issue has taken 
place in 2013 and senior loan facilities have been established in order to finance the acquisition of NextGenTel AS.

Financial market conditions
With a solid financial situation (cash position, no interest-bearing debt except for financial lease, and cash generating 
operations), Telio has not been notably affected by changing financial market conditions other than the impact such 
changes may have on Telio’s customers and the addressable market. The company’s financial position will change going 
forward after the acquisition of NextGenTel AS since the acquisition is financed with NOK 500 million in loan. The 
loan facilities involve certain financial covenants.  

Shareholder information
At the end of the year, the company had in total 19,392,700 shares outstanding of nominal value NOK 0.10. The 
company owned 275,001 treasury shares at year-end. The company had 494 shareholders and 30.6% of total shares were 
registered outside Norway. Total outstanding options at the end of the year were 518,900 with an average exercise price 
of NOK 14.87. For details regarding share options, see note 12 to the financial statements.  

The Group has a policy of continuously keeping shareholders, analysts, employees and others updated on the Group’s 
operations. This is achieved via open quarterly presentations and continuously updating the investor relations pages on 
www.telioholding.no. 

Corporate governance
The company’s Board of Directors recognizes the importance of good corporate governance. This is ensured through 
interaction between shareholders, the Board of Directors and the administration. Telio’s goal is that all interested 
parties are confident that the Group’s activities are being operated in an acceptable way and that governing bodies have 
sufficient insight and influence to carry out their functions.  

Guidelines on corporate governance are approved annually by the Board of Directors in connection with the approval 
of the annual accounts or when deemed necessary. The guidelines are based on the Norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate Governance, last revised on October 23, 2012 and using the ‘follow or explain principle’. The guidelines are 
presented in a separate section of the annual report and are also presented on the company’s investor relations website.
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Risks 
The Group, via its activities, is exposed to credit risk due to the outstanding accounts of customers and co-operative 
partners. The company has sold accounts receivable at face value to Svea Finans NUF. This agreement gives Svea the 
right to regress in certain instances. The procedures for credit rating, monitoring and collection are being continuously 
monitored and improved. The Group believes that the provisions for bad debt are adequate. 

The Group is furthermore exposed to currency risks as a result of activities in several countries where different 
currencies are used. Implicit hedging is arranged by subsidiaries carrying out their business in local currencies. Net 
currency exposure is therefore limited; however, subsidiaries are exposed to currency risk from inter-company 
borrowings denominated in NOK. In 2011, the Group purchased currency futures in Euro and USD to hedge against 
fluctuations in cost of goods sold (traffic costs) and these futures contracts had effect also into 2012.  As a result of the 
size of the Group’s cash holding and limited interest bearing debt, interest rate risks are considered to be limited. 

The Group’s liquidity risk is considered low based on a business model of recurring revenues and predictable cash 
flow. However, management of liquidity risk will become more challenging after the acquisition of NextGenTel and the 
changed financial structure.

The Group operates in mature markets where market development is rather predictable. The market for VoIP services 
is in a declining phase, but the decline is quite stable from year to year. The Group has introduced new services to offset 
this decline and has experienced a renewed growth in revenues during 2012.

Risk management and internal control 
The administrative risk management relating to the Group’s financial performance (liquidity, currency and credit) is 
controlled by the Group’s CFO. Operational risk relating to the Group’s fixed assets including the operating platform is 
controlled by the CTO. 

The Board of Directors receives monthly financial reports from the administration. The company approves and 
presents quarterly reports to the market in accordance with IAS 34. Financial reporting is prepared and issued by the 
company’s finance function and quality assurance lies with the group controller and the CFO. The Board of Directors 
receives a monthly overview of important key performance indicators of a financial and operational nature.  

The Group has set up procedures to secure the best possible division of duties and to measure exposure areas to secure 
the Group’s assets in the best way possible. For further description of the company’s risk management and internal 
control procedures, see the corporate governance section of the annual report.
 
Environment and employees 
Companies in the Group do not generate higher levels of direct pollution or releases than those that are normal for a 
company in the industry. 

The working environment is considered to be good and general well being in the work place is good. Sickness absence 
was 1,521 days in 2012 (974 days in 2011). This is equivalent to 6.4 % (3.1 % in 2011) of available working hours. 
Adjusted for long term absence, the sickness absence was 734 days (3.1%) (601 days or 1.9% in 2011). There were no 
events which resulted in injury to employees or damage to material assets in the Group.

Of the Group’s 116 full-time employees, 25 are women (21.6 %). In addition, the Group had 81 temporary full-time 
equivalents of which 18 were women. One woman has a management position at Group level. The Board of Directors 
consists of 3 men and 2 women. Salaries, positions and duties are determined on the basis of qualifications and 
experience. There is to be no discrimination between women and men with respect to pay, promotion or employment. 
There is to be no discrimination based on race or religion. The Group recognizes the benefit of a more even distribution 
between men and women, both on the Board of Directors, in management and in total. This is being taken into 
consideration in the recruitment process. No actions are deemed to be necessary and therefore no actions are planned 
related to discrimination. 

Legal matters
There are currently no legal proceedings which involve any company in the Telio Group.
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Events after year-end
The completion of the acquisition of NextGenTel AS represents a material event after year-end. The acquisition is 
described in the “Investments” section of this report.

Going concern
In accordance with the Accounting Act paragraph 3-3, it is confirmed that the 2012 financial statements are prepared 
based on the going concern assumption. This assumption is founded on good financial results for 2012 and satisfactory 
liquidity and plans for 2013.
 The Board of Directors’ opinion is that the statement of financial position, the income statement, the statement of 
changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and notes present a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position 
at the end of the financial year. The Board of Directors is not aware of significant uncertainties in the annual financial 
statements or extraordinary circumstances which have influenced the annual financial statements beyond what is stated 
in the annual financial statements and the Board of Directors’ report. 

Future market developments 
Telio will continue to capitalize on its strong market position in the Norwegian market by providing competitive 
services to both the residential and business segments. The residential market is challenging by means of keeping and 
even growing the customer base in a market where fixed telephony is declining and being replaced by mobile. Despite 
the decline in VoIP customer base, the company has been able to grow the residential customer base by introducing 
new services as described in this report. This development is expected to continue going forward. The business segment 
is still considered immature when it comes to deployment of VoIP services and the company expects this to be the 
main growth opportunity within traditional VoIP services. Going forward, non-VoIP services at lower gross margin 
will represent a larger share of total revenues. However, gross profit is expected to increase from growth in revenues 
and as a result profitability is expected to increase. As normal, there is uncertainty tied to forward-looking statements 
and expectations about future market developments.

In the international markets, the white label business in the Netherlands is expected to show continued growth in 
customer base and revenues. The Swiss market is also expected to show growth, although at a lower level, while the 
Danish operation is expected to maintain the current customer base.

The board is excited about the new opportunities arising from the acquisition of NextGenTel. This acquisition adds a 
substantial new dimension to the Telio Group, creating a highly efficient customer-oriented telecom player in the 
Norwegian market.

Oslo, 19 March 2013
Board of Directors of
Telio Holding ASA

     Erik Osmundsen            Aril Resen              Haakon Dyrnes
Chairman of the Board                            (sign.)                            (sign.)
              (sign.)  

      Arnhild Schia                  Liv Bergtorsdottir            Eirik Lunde
            (sign.)                (sign.)                             CEO    
                                             (sign.)
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As at 31 December
( In thousands of NOK)

Note 2012 2011
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7  10 191  13 295 
Intangible assets 8  34 149  28 408 
Deferred tax assets 15  8 358  6 217 
Non-current assets  52 698  47 920 

Current assets
Inventories 5  1 824  11 322 
Trade and other receivables 10  39 491  56 203 
Cash and cash equivalents 11, 27  52 469  93 910 
Current assets  93 784  161 435 

Total assets 146 482 209 355 

Equity
Share capital 12  1 912  1 901 
Share premium 12  21 231  20 640 
Retained earnings 12  -8 930  -646 
Total equity  14 213  21 895 

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 14  1 281  3 216 
Non current liabilities  1 281  3 216 

Trade and other payables 13  81 358  133 032 
Current tax liabilities 15  15 993  18 903 
Loans and borrowings 14  6 229  12 967 
Deferred income/revenue 16  26 579  18 219 
Provisions 17  830  1 124 
Current liabilities  130 988  184 245 
Total liabilities 132 269 187 461 
Total equity and liabilities 146 482 209 355 

Consolidated statement of financial position

Oslo, 19 March 2013
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For the year ended 31 December
( In thousands of NOK)

Note 2012 2011
Continuing operations
Sales revenue  388 822  363 818 
Other revenues  20 950  21 399 
Total revenues 6, 18  409 772  385 217 

Connection costs and traffic charges  -161 596  -137 689 
Payroll expenses 19  -68 772  -59 574 
Marketing expenses 20  -25 572  -17 493 
Other expenses 20  -59 349  -48 723 
Depreciation and amortisation 7, 8  -41 840  -38 636 
VAT expense for previous years 20  -  -49 976 
Result from operating activities  52 643  33 126 

Finance income 21  3 004  3 944 
Finance cost 21  -4 639  -5 004 
Net finance cost  -1 635  -1 061 

Profit before income tax  51 008  32 065 

Income tax expense 6, 15  -13 872  -1 767 
Profit  37 136  30 298 

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company  37 136  30 298 

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences  1 614  -1 703 
Other comprehensive income for the year  1 614  -1 703 
Total comprehensive income for the year  38 750  28 595 

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent company  38 750  28 595 

Earnings per share 
Earnings per share 22 1,95 1.59
Diluted earnings per share 22 1,92 1.56

The notes on the following pages are an integral part of the consolidated accounts.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
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Year ended 31 December 2012
(In thousands of NOK)

Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Other 
paid-in 

equity

Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings

Total 
equity

Balance at 1 January 2011  1 939  -21  17 815  -1 592  34 529  52 670 
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  30 298  30 298 
Translation differences  -  -  -  -1 703  -  -1 703 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  -1 703  30 298  28 595 

Transactions with owners of the company, 
recognised directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the Company
Purchase of treasury shares  -  -21  -  -  -5 623  -5 644 
Dividends  -  -  -  -  -57 266  -57 266 
Share-based payment transactions  -  -  2 825  -  -  2 825 
Share options exercised  -  4  -  -  711  715 
Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the Company

 -  -17  2 825  -  -62 178  -59 370 

Balance at 31 December 2011  1 939  -38  20 640  -3 295  2 649  21 895 

Balance at 1 January 2012  1 939  -38  20 640  -3 295  2 649  21 895 
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  37 136  37 136 
Translation differences  -  -  -  1 614  -  1 614 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  -  1 614  37 136  38 750 

Transactions with owners of the company, 
recognised directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the Company
Purchase of treasury shares  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Dividends  -  -  -  -  -47 765  -47 765 
Share-based payment transactions  -  -  591  -  -  591 
Share options exercised  -  11  -  -  731  742 
Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the Company

 -  11  591  -  -47 034  -46 432 

Balance at 31 December 2012  1 939  -27  21 231  -1 681  -7 249  14 213 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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For the year ended 31 December
(In thousands of NOK)

Note 2012 2011
Cash flows from operations

Profit for the year  51 008  32 065 
Adjustment for:
- Net financial costs  1 635  1 061 
- Interest paid  -1 325  -1 639 
- Interest received  1 924  1 284 
 -Realized forex exchange ( gain/loss )  2 854  681 
- Tax expense  -18 925  -25 030 
- Depreciation 7  9 400  14 880 
- Amortisation of intangible assets 8  32 439  23 756 
- Equity-settled share-based payments transactions  591  2 824 
Changes in:
- Inventories  9 498  3 773 
- Trade and other payables 13, 14, 

17
 -58 705  82 893 

- Trade and other receivables 10  16 712  -5 622 
- Deferred income/revenue 16  8 359  -3 661 
Cash generated from operating activities  55 465  127 265 

Cash flows from investing  activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 8  -1 151  -950 
Acquisition of other investments (intangible assets) *) 9  -38 180  -26 689 
Net cash used in investing activities  -44 476  -36 243 

Cash flows from financing activities
Repurchase of own shares 12  -  -5 644 
Proceeds from exercise of share options 12  742  715 
Payment of finance lease liabilities 14  -13 819  -14 345 
Dividends paid  -47 765  -57 266 
Net cash used in financing activities  -55 697  -67 937 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  -44 708  23 085 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 11  93 910  68 510 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  3 267  2 315 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  52 469  93 910 

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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Note 1. Reporting entity
Telio Holding ASA (the company) and its subsidiaries (collectively the group) provide broadband telephony services (voice 
over IP) and pure Internet services to end customers under the Telio brand. In addition, the the company provides mobile 
services and fixed broadband services in the Norwegian markets. The group also offers its own 
proprietary technology platform to partners who sell broadband telephony services under their own name (ASP). 

The company is a public limited company (ASA) that is registered and domiciled in Norway. The company’s registered business 
address is Harbitzalleen 2, N-0275 Oslo. In addition, the group has companies in Sweden, Denmark, 
Switzerland and the Netherlands.

The consolidated accounts for the 2012 financial year, ending on 31 December 2012, include the company and its subsidiaries 
as specified in Section 2.2. below. The consolidated accounts were adopted by the Board of Directors and CEO on 19 March 
2013. The consolidated accounts are to be reviewed and adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 12 April 2013.

Note 2. Basis of preparation 
The most important accounting principles applied by the group in the preparation of the consolidated accounts are described 
below. These policies have been applied identically to all the periods that are presented unless otherwise stated in the 
description. All amounts in NOK 1000. 

Note 2.1 Basic principles, declaration of conformity
The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
stipulated by the EU, and in accordance with the interpretations stipulated by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) that are to be applied as at 31 December 2012, as well as additional Norwegian information requirements pursuant to 
the Norwegian Accounting Act as at 31 December 2012. The accounts are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK) and rounded 
off to the nearest thousand. The accounts have been prepared based on the historical cost principle. The preparation of 
accounts in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates. In addition, the application of the company’s accounting 
principles requires that the management exercise judgment. Areas that contain a high degree of such discretionary assessments, 
or a high degree of complexity, or areas where the assumptions and estimates are of significance to the consolidated accounts 
are described in Note 4.

Change in the accounting principles
No changes were made to accounting principles in the Group during 2012.

Future change in the accounting principles
The Group has decided to modify its accounting principles starting 1 January 2013 regarding treatment of customer acquisition 
costs, and as a result customer acquisition costs will be expensed when incurred. In order to be consistent, corresponding 
deferred establishment revenues which are directly linked to the establishment /acquisition of a 
customer will be booked when incurred.

Accounting principles and interpretations that have been issued but not applied
Several new standards, amendments and interpretations were not in force as at 31 December 2012, and have not been used in 
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and revised IAS 19 Employee benefits are effective 1 January 2013. IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities, as well 
as the de revised standards IAS27 Separate Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
become effective 1 January 2014. 

Based on the assessments carried out to date, none of these standards will have a substantial impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Note 2.2 Consolidation principles
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all the units where the group has the power to control the unit’s financial and operational strategy, normally 

13Telio Holding ASA
Annual Report 2012



through ownership of more than half of the voting capital. In determining whether control exists, the effect of potential voting 
rights that can be exercised or converted on the balance sheet date is included. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the point in time when control is transferred to the group and eliminated from consolidation when such 
control ends. The purchase method of accounting is used for the acquisition of subsidiaries that are considered to be business 
combinations. Goodwill represents values arising from the acquisitions of subsidiaries. Goodwill is allocated to 
cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment. Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognized 
directly in the profit and loss account in accordance with IFRS 3, non-controlling interests can be measured at the net 
value of identifiable assets and liabilities in the acquired or at fair-value, including a goodwill element. Method of 
measurement is decided upon on each acquisition.

Goodwill after IFRS 3 is measured as a residual at the acquisition date and constitutes the sum of:
■ Total consideration transferred in relation to the business combination
■ The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests
■ Fair value of previous interest in the acquired at the time of acquisition, less the net recognized amount  (normally  
   fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

All intercompany transactions, outstanding accounts and unrealized earnings between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealized losses are eliminated, but they are considered as an indicator of impairment in value in relation 
to the write-down of the asset transferred. The accounting policies in subsidiaries are changed as required achieving 
compliance with the group’s accounting policies.

Consolidated subsidiaries:
Subsidiaries   Business address  Ownership interest and 
         voting rights
Telio Telecom AS *)  Oslo     100%
Gojitek AS *)   Oslo     100%
Telio Project AS   Oslo     100%
Gojitek AG   Zurich     100%
Telio SA   Zurich     100%
Telio Telecom (Schweiz) AG Zürich     100%
Tellio ApS   Copenhagen    100%
Teliofoni AB   Stockholm    100%
Telio Netherlands BV  Amsterdam    100%
Telio IP Services BV  Amsterdam    100%

*) Gojitek AS was founded based on the demerger of Telio Telecom AS, effective from 01.01.2012

Note 2.3 Operating segment 
The group has defined and presented operating segments based on information that is provided to the Board of 
Directors and CEO, which collectively represent the group’s highest decision-making body. The operating segments are 
defined based on where the customers are domiciled. The following four operating segments have been defined: 
Norway, Denmark, Switzerland and the Netherlands. The risk and return are influenced by the geographic location of 
the operations, in addition to the market. Transactions between the segments are eliminated.

Note 2.4 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currencies
The accounts of the individual units in the group are measured in the currency that is used primarily in the economic 
area where the unit operates (functional currency). The consolidated accounts are presented in Norwegian kroner 
(NOK), which is both the functional currency for the parent company and presentation currency for the group.

 (b) Transactions and balance sheet items
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign currency gains and losses that arise from the payment of such transactions and the 
translation of monetary items (assets and liabilities) in foreign currencies at the rates in effect on the date of the balance 
sheet are recognized in the income statement.
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(c) Group companies
The income statements and balance sheets of group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
i) balance sheet is translated at the closing rate on the date of the balance sheet  ii) income statement is translated at the 
average rate (if the average rate does not provide a reasonable estimate of the accumulated effects of using the 
transaction rate, then the transaction date rate is used; and  (iii) translation differences are entered directly against 
equity and specified separately.
When consolidating differences from the translation of net investments in foreign business operations, they are 
recorded directly against equity. Exchange rate differences from intra-group receivables/debt are recognized in the 
income statement as a transaction effect. 
Goodwill and the fair value adjustments for assets and liabilities associated with the acquisition of a foreign unit are 
treated as assets and liabilities in the acquired unit and translated at the rate in effect on the date of the balance sheet.
 
Note 2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded in the accounts at historical cost less depreciation. The historical cost 
includes the costs directly linked to the acquisition of the asset. 
Subsequent expenses are added to the value of the asset on the balance sheet or recorded separately on the balance 
sheet, when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expense will accrue to the group and 
the expense can be measured reliably. 
Other repair and maintenance expenses are recognized in the income statement for the period when the expenses were 
incurred.
Tangible assets are depreciated based on the straight-line method, so that the historical cost of the fixed asset is 
depreciated to the residual value over the expected useful life of the asset.

– Adapters     2 years
– Fixtures, furnishings and IT equipment 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
When the book value of the asset is higher than the estimated recoverable amount, the value is written down to the 
recoverable amount (Section 2.8). Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the 
carrying amount. Accounts related to replaced parts will be recognized in the income statement. 
 
Note 2.6 Recognized customer acquisition and connection costs
External costs that can be linked directly to customer acquisition and connection are capitalized and amortized over 
the average expected duration of the customer relationship (see Section 2.15 below). Such costs are capitalized when 
they quality as an asset, when the costs can be identified separately, and provided the following criteria have been met:
(a) The unit controls future economic benefits as a result of the costs incurred;
(b) It is probable that these economic benefits will pass to the unit; and
(c) The costs can be measured reliably.
The company has concluded that such costs should only be recognized in the balance sheet if the capitalized cost does 
not exceed the associated deferred payment of connection income. Other costs related to the customer acquisition and 
connections are recognized when they are incurred. For customers who have agreed to a 12-month agreement period, 
the company has concluded that the directly attributable, external customer acquisition costs are to be depreciated over 
12 months. The capitalized customer acquisition amount is limited to the minimum payment from the customer 
during the agreement period. (See section 2.1 – change in future accounting principles)

Note 2.7 Development
Direct expenses related to the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the group are 
recognized as intangible assets on the balance sheet if it is probable that they will generate economic benefits exceeding 
the expected future expenses. Direct expenses included payroll expenses for software development personnel and a 
share of the associated overhead costs. Capitalized proprietary software is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
software’s expected useful life (three to five years).  Other expenses associated with developing or maintaining software 
are recognized as they are incurred. Development expenses capitalized earlier are not recognized as an asset in a 
subsequent period.
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The value of development assets are tested annually for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. Indications of 
impairment may be external, like market value declines, negative changes in technology, markets, economy, or 
legislation, increases in market interest rates or entity stock price is below carrying value. Internal impairment 
indicators may be obsolescence or physical damage, that the asset is part of a restructuring or held for disposal, or 
worse economic performance than expected. Further, an indication that an asset may be impaired may indicate that the 
asset’s useful life, depreciation method, or residual value may need to be reviewed and adjusted. Some indicators are 
aimed at individual assets rather than a group of assets for example obsolescence or physical damage.

Note 2.8 Impairment in the value of non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not depreciated and the value is tested annually for impairment. 
Tangible and intangible assets that are depreciated are assessed for impairment in value when there are indicators that 
the future earnings cannot justify the book value. A write-down is recognized in the profit and loss account as the 
difference between the book value and the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the impairment the  assets are grouped at the lowest level at which 
it is possible to identify independent cash flows (cash-generating units). On each reporting date the reversal of earlier 
write-downs on non-financial assets are assessed.

Note 2.9 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables from customers are recognized initially at fair value on the transaction date. Provisions for losses are 
recognized when there are indicators that the group will not receive settlement in accordance with the original terms. 
Significant financial problems facing the customer, probability that the customer will go bankrupt or undergo financial 
restructuring, postponements and non-payments are regarded as indicators that the receivables from customers must 
be written down. The provisions for losses are based on an evaluation of the accounts receivables aging - at the balance 
sheet date.

Note 2.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits, other short-term, readily negotiable investments with an 
original maturity of less than three months and drawdowns on bank overdraft facilities. 

Note 2.11 Capital and reserves
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The paid-up capital is presented as share capital and premiums, the first of 
which represents ordinary shares at par value. Expenses that are directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are 
entered as a reduction in the proceeds received above par. When the company’s own shares are purchased, the 
consideration, including any transaction costs less taxes, is entered as a reduction of the equity (attributable to the 
company’s shareholders) until the shares are annulled, reissued or sold. If the company’s own shares are subsequently 
sold or reissued, the proceeds less the direct transaction costs and associated tax- effects, are entered as an increase in 
the equity attributable to the company’s shareholders.

Note 2.12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax has been calculated for all the temporary differences between the financial and tax values of assets and 
liabilities. Deferred tax are not recognized in connection with the initial recognition of a liability or asset on the balance 
sheet in a transaction that is not business combination, and it does not affect the financial or tax profit/loss at the time 
of the transaction. Deferred tax is determined by means of the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted on the date of the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets are recognized on the balance sheet provided 
future taxable income is probable and the temporary differences can be offset against this income. Deferred tax is 
calculated based on temporary differences from investments in subsidiaries and associated companies except when the 
group controls the timing for the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Note 2.13 Pension obligations, bonus schemes and other compensation schemes for employees
(a) Pension obligations
The companies in Norway and Switzerland have established a defined contribution pension plan for employees. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension scheme in which the group pays fixed contributions to a separate legal entity. The group does 
not have any legal or other obligation to pay additional contributions.
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The contributions are recorded as a payroll cost in the accounts as they fall due. Contributions paid in advance are recognized 
as an asset in the accounts if the contribution can be refunded or reduce future payments. 

(b) Share-based reward system
The group has equity share-based settlement payment plan. The total amount that is to be charged as an expense over the 
contribution period will be based on the fair value of the options granted at the time of the grant, less the effect of any 
contribution terms that are not market-based (such as profitability or sales growth goals). 
The National Insurance contributions related to share-based compensation schemes will be recognized as liabilities. 
Adjustments to the National Insurance obligation will be recognized as a cost or as a reduced cost in subsequent periods, 
based on changes in the intrinsic value over the vesting period.

Note 2.14 Recognition of revenue
Revenue from the sale of services is valued at fair value, net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts. The sale of 
services is recognized in the income statement in the period in which the service was performed. 
Intra-group sales are eliminated. Revenue consists primarily of revenue from connection fees, subscriptions and traffic 
charges. Revenue is recognized in the income statement as follows:

(a) Connection fees
Revenue from connection fees is recognized over a period of five years, which is the average expected duration of a customer 
relationship. Revenue is recognized as of the date when the customer enters into the agreement, has paid the connection fee 
and been connected to the network. The connection fee includes the initial connection, delivery of an adapter and porting 
(technical transfer of the individual telephone numbers from another telecom operator to the 
company). The connection fee is not refundable and subscriptions do not have any lock-in period. 
Revenue generated by porting services (transfer of a telephone number from Telio to another telecom operator) is recognized 
when the service has been delivered. 

(b) Subscriptions
Revenue from subscriptions is recognized when it is earned during the subscription period in accordance with the actual 
content of the subscription agreement, starting on the subscription’s activation date. 

 (c) Traffic (origination and termination)
Revenue from traffic from Telio subscribers is recognized in accordance with the actual traffic during the period multiplied 
by the contractual rates per traffic unit and type (origination).
Revenue from traffic to Telio subscribers from external sources is recognized in accordance with the same 
principle (termination). 

 (d) Hardware
Revenues from sales of hardware are recognized at the time of sale.  Hardware is usually sold stand-alone to existing 
customers who already have a subscription.

Note 2.15 Other revenues
Other revenues consist of invoicing fees, invoicing of adapters that are not returned, invoicing of agreement period violations 
and other fees. These revenues are recognized when they are earned and collectible.

Note 2.16 Connection costs and traffic charges
Costs associated with leased connection capacity consist primarily of costs associated with the termination of calls, 
bandwidth, hosting, etc. Such costs are accounted for when they are incurred in accordance with the actual content of the 
lease agreements. Traffic charge costs are recognized during the same period as when the traffic activity is 
registered, which corresponds to the associated traffic revenue.     

Note 2.17 Lease agreements
Lease agreements where a significant portion of the risk and return associated with ownership still lies with the lessor 
are classified as operating lease agreements. Payments for operating lease agreements (less any financial incentives from 
the lessor) are recorded in equal amounts over the term of the lease agreement.
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The group leases certain operating assets. Leases for property, plant and equipment, where all of the risk and return 
rests actually with the group are classified as financial lease agreements. Financial lease agreements are recognized on 
the balance sheet when the lease agreement is entered into at the lowest of fair value of the leased asset or the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease commitments, excluding the financial expenses, are 
recognized as finance lease obligations. Equipment acquired through financial lease agreements are depreciated over 
the shorter of the expected life of the asset or term of the lease agreement.

Note 2.18 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is based on the first-in 
first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, and other cost incurred in bringing 
them to their existing location and condition. 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses.

Note 2.19 Public subsidies
Public subsidies are recognized at fair value in the accounts when it is reasonably certain that the subsidies will be 
received and the group will meet the criteria for the subsidies. Subsidies are recognized according to the actual terms of 
the scheme; either as a reduction in the cost price of the asset (investment grants) or as a cost reduction.
The company has utilized a tax scheme that is available to all businesses registered in Norway. In accordance with this 
scheme, the company qualifies for a direct tax reduction by qualifying for and subsequently documenting certain 
qualifying research and development expenses (SkatteFunn scheme). 
The government subsidy, which consists of a reduction in the tax charge, is recognized as a reduction in the capitalized 
development expenses and is credited to the income statement over the expected useful life of the associated intangible 
asset from the point in time when the intangible asset is used as intended.  

Note 2.20 Borrowing expenses
Loans are initially recognized at their fair value, less any transaction costs. In subsequent periods, loans are recognized 
at their amortized cost, using the effective interest rate. The difference between the loan amount (less transaction costs) 
and the redemption or fair value are recognized in the income statement over the term of the loan. Loans are classified 
as current liabilities unless there is an unconditional right to postpone payment of the debt by more than 12 months 
from the date of the balance sheet. 

Note 3. Financial risk management 
The group’s activities are exposed to certain financial risks: a market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The group’s 
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential 
adverse effects on the group’s financial performance. The CFO is responsible for risk in the company. Financial risk is 
monitored by the CFO and operating risk is monitored by the CTO.

(a) Market risk 
Foreign exchange risk
The group operates internationally, but it has a limited foreign exchange risk since most of the revenues (80%) and 
expenses are in Norwegian kroner (NOK). The group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of operations in 
multiple countries with different currencies, although there is a degree of implicit hedging due to the fact that subsidi-
aries are doing business in the local currency. The net exposure to foreign currency is thus limited. The Group has in 
2011 purchased currency futures in Euro and USD to hedge against fluctuations in cost of goods sold (traffic costs). No 
currency futures have been purchased for 2012. Subsidiaries are exposed to foreign currency risk through intra-group 
loans in Norwegian kroner (NOK). 

(b) Credit risk 
The group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, since the customer base consists of many customers with 
relatively small balances. The group has entered into a factoring agreement with Svea Finans NUF. This agreement 
provides that Svea has recourse against Telio in accordance with the detailed criteria.  The credit rating, monitoring and 
collection routines are subject to continuous evaluation and improvements.  We do not perform credit checks on 
private broadband telephony customers, because the broadband provider has already performed a credit check on
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most of the customers. A credit check is performed on customers in the business market. A credit check is performed 
on customers who desire to use Telio mobile, an ordinary GSM service. The group has appropriate procedures to 
monitor high consumption, watch out for fraud and disconnect customers who do not settle their accounts with the 
company. 

 (c) Liquidity risk
 The company’s management of liquidity risk requires maintenance of adequate liquid reserves and development of the 
operations in accordance with the budget. Cash reserves are monitored regularly, and an agreement has been entered 
with a factoring company for the sale of receivables related to consumption and monthly fees.  The company’s 
acquisition of NextGenTel AS in 2013 make the Group dependent upon having access to long-term funding and other 
loans and debt facilities to the extent its own cash flow from operations is insufficient to fund its operations and capital 
expenditures. In turn the Group must secure and maintain sufficient equity capital to support such borrowing facilities.

Note 4. Important accounting estimates and discretionary assessments 
Estimates and discretionary assessments are evaluated continuously and based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are regarded as probable under the current circumstances.

Note 4.1 Important accounting estimates and assumptions/prerequisites
The group prepares estimates and makes assumptions concerning the future. The accounting estimates that are made as 
a result of this will rarely coincide in full with the final outcome. Estimates and assumptions/prerequisites that 
represent a significant risk of major changes in the book value of assets and liabilities during the next financial year are 
discussed below.

(a) Recognition of revenue and deferred costs
Revenue from connection is recognized over a period of five years, which is the average expected duration of a 
customer relationship. The average expected duration of a customer relationship is based on the statistical data 
available and the management’s forecasts. This estimate represents a significant degree of uncertainty. The effect of 
changes in the expected duration of a customer relationship will be amortized over the remaining expected average 
duration of the customer relationships.
External costs that can be linked directly to customer acquisition and connection are capitalized and amortized over 
the average expected duration of the customer relationship (see below). Such costs are capitalized when they qualify as 
an asset and when the costs can be identified separately. Based on the customer contracts, the management has 
concluded that such costs should only be recognized in the balance sheet if the capitalized cost does not exceed the 
associated deferred payment of connection income.
For customers who have agreed to a 12-month agreement period, the company has concluded that the external, directly 
attributable customer acquisition costs are to be depreciated over the agreement period.  The capitalized amount will 
not exceed the minimum amount the customer will be charged in the course of the agreement period. (See section 2.1 
– change in future accounting principles)

(b) Income tax
The group is taxed for income in several different jurisdictions. The use of discretion is required to determine the 
income tax in all the countries combined in the consolidated accounts. For many transactions and calculations there 
will be uncertainty related to the ultimate tax liability. The group accounts for tax obligations related to future decisions 
in tax/dispute cases, based on estimates of whether additional income tax will accrue. If the final outcome of the cases 
deviates from the original provisions set aside, the deviation will affect the recorded taxes and provisions for deferred 
taxes during the period when the deviation is established.
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(c) Development expenses, amortization and depreciation
Development expenses can either be capitalized or recognized as an expense when they are incurred based on an 
evaluation of the cost category. Expenses directly related to the development of identifiable and unique software 
products that are owned by the group are recognized as intangible assets on the balance sheet if it is probable that they 
will generate economic benefits exceeding the expected future expenses. Direct expenses included payroll expenses for 
software development personnel and a share of the associated fixed costs. Capitalized proprietary software is 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the software’s expected economic life (three to five years). 
Other expenses associated with developing or maintaining software are recognized as they are incurred. 

The corporate management evaluated the expected economic life and related depreciation for capitalized development 
expenses. The management reviews the capitalized assets’ expected economic life and the depreciation method used at 
least annually. The effect of any changes to the depreciation method will be amortized over the remaining economic life 
of the assets. Capitalized internally developed software will be tested annually for impairment in accordance with IAS 
36, or more often if there are indications of impairment in value.

(d) Provisions for losses on receivables
Trade accounts receivable consist typically of a large number of balances with relatively small amounts. The group has 
standardized reminder and collection routines for all the claims that are not paid when they fall due. The group sets 
aside provisions for losses on receivables monthly based on the age distribution of the outstanding receivables taking 
into account the expected payment ratio. The provisions are reviewed regularly. Provisions for non-consumer-related 
receivables are evaluated individually.

Subsidiaries operating in Norway, Denmark and Switzerland sell their receivables (traffic and monthly fees), when the 
invoice is issued at the nominal value. The agreements also entail that the cooperating parties have recourse against 
Telio in accordance with the detailed criteria agreed on. The cooperating parties are responsible for all collection. 

(e) Evaluation of impairment in the value of non-financial assets
Annual tests are performed to assess whether the value of non-financial assets is impaired, cf. Note 2.8. 
The management has defined each subsidiary as an individual cash-generating unit (CGU). A value impairment test is 
performed in accordance with the generally accepted methods and IAS 38.
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Note 5. Inventories

2012 2011
Opening balance  11 322 -
Purchase value - 19 561
Consumption -9 498 -8 240
Finished goods 1 824  11 322 

Note 6. Operating segments

Segment reporting

IFRS 8 requires segment reporting for operative segments. Telio is a niche company that specialises in the 
development, marketing and sales of IP-based services and communication solutions, and it operates only in this 
business segment. After the aquisition of NextGenTel in 2013 the Group will also be a significant player in the 
broadbankd-segment. The following geographic segments have been defined based on where the customer is 
domiciled: Norway, Denmark, Swizerland and the Netherlands. The risk and return are influenced by the 
geographic location of the operations, in addition to the market. Telio’s definition of the geographic segment is 
based on the location and customer segment in these markets. Transactions between the segments are eliminated. 
The company’s highest decision-making body is the company’s Board of Directors and management.

2012
Profit and loss by segment Norway Denmark Netherlands Switzerland Others *) Group

Total revenues 416 389 41 226 39 442 19 553 8 146 524 756
Intra-group revenues -100 537 -4 447 - -1 854 -8 146 -114 984
Net revenues 315 852 36 779 39 442 17 699  - 409 772

Total costs of sales -166 562 -24 800 -32 073 -9 376  - -232 811
Intra-group cost of sales 50 801 10 211 10 203 -  - 71 215
Net cost of sales -115 761 -14 589 -21 870 -9 376  - -161 596

Gross profit/loss 200 091 22 190 17 572 8 323  - 248 176
Gross margin 63% 60% 45% 47% 0% 61%

Depreciation and amortisation -38 786 -266 -339 -2 450 - -41 840
Other operating expenses -160 196 -13 547 -1 455 -6 617 -15 766 -197 581
Intra-group operating expenses 41 159 753  - 1 978  - 43 890
Net operating expenses -157 823 -13 060 -1 794 -7 088 -15 766 -195 531

Operating profit/loss 42 268 9 130 15 778 1 235 -15 766 52 643

Finance income 1 560 697 - 34  714 3 004
Finance cost -1 636 -2 984 -23 -94  99 -4 639
Income tax expense -7 858 - -1 349 -4 664  - -13 872

Profit 34 343 6 843 14 406 -3 490 -14 954 37 136
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Profit and loss by segment Norway Denmark Netherlands Switzerland Others *) Group

Total revenues 395 300 47 507 35 724  18 264 10 596 507 391
Intra-group revenues -97 457 -9 041 -  -4 959 -10 716 -122 173
Net revenues 297 843 38 466 35 724  13 304  -120 385 217

Total costs of sales -148 663 -30 315 -33 238  -6 570  - -218 786
Intra-group cost of sales 53 671 15 526 11 900  -  - 81 097
Net cost of sales -94 992 -14 789 -21 338  -6 570  - -137 689

202 851 23 677 14 386 6 735  -120 247 529
Gross margin 68% 62% 40% 51% 0% 64%

Depreciation and amortisation -34 997 -353 -326  -2 960  - -38 636
Other operating expenses -131 473 -15 146 -1 462 -5 729 -13 223 -167 033
One-off VAT cost -49 976 - - - - -49 976
Intra-group operating expenses 40 517 597  -  128  - 41 242
Net operating expenses -175 929 -14 902 -1 788 -8 561 -13 223 -214 403

Operating profit/loss 26 922 8 775 12 598 -1 826 -13 343 33 126

Finance income 3 591 98 -  171  85 3 944
Finance cost -1 913 -1 960 -813 -179 -140 -5 004
Income tax expense -2 231  -  -648  -  1 112 -1 767

Profit 26 369 6 913 11 137 -1 835 -12 286 30 298

2012
Balance sheet Norway Denmark Netherlands Switzerland Others *) Eliminations Group

Assets 290 271 22 881 12 942 12 288 60 522 -246 146 146 482
Liabilities 208 111 15 897 8 795 23 987 52 660 -169 749 132 269
Equity capital 82 160 6 984 4 148 -11 698 7 862 -75 241 14 213

Investments 42 357  -  -  2 121  -  - 44 478

2011
Balance sheet Norway Denmark Netherlands Switzerland Others *) Eliminations Group

Assets 276 020 26 417 11 710 14 129 44 678 -163 600 209 354
Liabilities 171 209 62 996 11 408 22 581 36 912 -117 646 187 460
Equity capital 104 811 -36 579 302 -8 452 7 766 -45 954 21 894

Investments 33 545 198 81  2 418  -  - 36 243

2011
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Note 7. Property , plant and equipment
Adapters Fixtures, furnishings 

and IT equipment
Total

2012 financial year
Book value as at 1 January 2012  8 030  5 265  13 295 
Additions  5 275  1 021  6 296 
Depreciation  -5 851  -3 549  -9 400 
Book value as at 31 December 2012  7 454  2 737  10 191 
As at 31 December 2012
Historical cost  112 367  41 151  153 518 
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs  -104 913  -38 414  -143 327 
Book value as at 31 December 2012  7 454  2 737  10 191 

2011 financial year
Book value as at 1 January 2011  15 010  3 611  18 621 
Additions  4 601  4 952  9 553 
Depreciation  -11 581  -3 298  -14 879 
Book value as at 31 December 2011  8 030  5 265  13 295 
As at 31 December 2011
Historical cost  107 092  40 130  147 222 
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs  -99 062  -34 865  -133 927 
Book value as at 31 December 2011  8 030  5 265  13 295 

The costs related to operating lease agreements for IT equipment of NOK 171 (2011: NOK 165) are recognised in the income 
statement together with other costs.

The book value of assets recognised as financial lease agreements is NOK 7,454 for adapters (2011: NOK 8,030). 
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Note 8. Intangible assets
Internally 
developed 
IT systems

Customer 
acquisition 

costs

Others 
rights

Total

2012 financial year
Book value as at 1 January 2012  14 135  11 270  3 004  28 408 
Additions  14 539  23 643  -  38 182 
Depreciation  -9 982  -21 483  -976  -32 441 
Book value as at 31 December 2012  18 692  13 430  2 028  34 149 
As at 31 December 2012
Historical cost  57 886  131 066  8 775  197 726 
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs  -39 194  -117 636  -6 747  -163 577 
Book value as at 31 December 2012  18 692  13 430  2 028  34 149 

2011 financial year
Book value as at 1 January 2011  11 265  11 131  3 080  25 475 
Additions  11 026  15 159  505  26 690 
Depreciation  -8 156  -15 020  -581  -23 757 
Book value as at 31 December 2011  14 135  11 270  3 004  28 408 
As at 31 December 2011
Historical cost  43 347  107 423  8 775  159 544 
Accumulated depreciation and write-downs  -29 212  -96 153  -5 771  -131 136 
Book value as at 31 December 2011  14 135  11 270  3 004  28 408 

The depreciation of development expenses is found under “depreciation and amortisation” in the income 
statement. The recognised value of the SkatteFUNN programme is NOK 1,100  (2011: NOK 1,100). 
SkatteFUNN has been recognised as a reduction in the capitalised development expenses. 
The grant from the SkatteFUNN programme for 2012 is NOK 1,233 (2011: NOK 1.100).

Note 9. Development expenses

The group has a development department that consists of 32 persons in 2012 (2011: 29 persons). In addition to 
working on projects to develop the IT platform, the development department is responsible for the maintenance 
and upgrading of the systems. The figures below are the combined expenses for the development department, and 
they include payroll expenses, social expenses and other related expenses. In addition there has been used external 
consultants for development in the Swiss branch.  

2012 2011

Development expenses recognised in the income 
statement

 14 917  14 149 

Capitalised development expenses  14 539  11 026 
 Total  29 456  25 175 
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Note 10. Trade and other receivables
2012 2011

Trade accounts receivable  25 978  17 655 
Provisions for expected losses on trade receivables  -5 393  -3 195 
Net trade accounts receivable  20 585  14 460 
Advance payments  4 638  3 453 
Accrued, not yet invoiced income  12 476  13 265 
Other receivables  1 792  25 025 
Total trade receivables and other receivables  39 491  56 203 

The group realised losses on receivables of NOK 3,252 in the accounts in 2012 (2011: NOK 9,144). 
Since the receivables are short-term receivables, the fair value of the receivables is equal to the book value.
Telio SA and Telio Telecom AS entered into an agreement to sell receivables to Svea Finans NUF in January 2006. 
This agreement entails that Svea will purchase receivables related to traffic and subscriptions at the nominal value. 
This agreement also entails that Svea has recourse against Telio in accordance with the detailed criteria agreed on. A 
corresponding agreement has been entered into between Svea and Tellio ApS in Denmark and Telio IP Services BV 
in Netherlands. A similar agreement is signed with Curabill AG for the Swiss market. Included in these agreements is 
also dunning and collection services.

Note 11. Cash and cash equivalents
2012 2011

Cash and bank deposits*  50 100  91 978 
Restricted tax withholdings  2 369  1 932 
Total cash and bank deposits  52 469  93 910 

* Cash and bank deposits include a restricted amount of NOK 1.689 as at 31 December 2012 in separate bank 
accounts in connection with guarantees furnished to TDC and other supplier contracts. 
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Note 12. Capital and reserves 
Share capital
Total number of shares issued is 19,392,700 ordinary shares (2011: 19,392,700 shares) with a nominal value of NOK 
0.1 per share (2011: NOK 0.1 per share). All the shares issued are fully paid-up. All the shares have equal voting 
rights. The company held 275,001 treasury shares as at 31 December 2012. 

List of all the largest shareholders as at 
31 December 2012

Shareholder’s name  Number of shares  Percentage 
TALIR HOLDING AS  2 010 000 10,4 %
XFILE AS  1 500 000 7,7 %
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK  1 204 400 6,2 %
FRANK MOHN A/S  930 000 4,8 %
VEEN A/S  819 704 4,2 %
SYNESI AS  750 000 3,9 %
VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALFRED 
BERG GAMBAK

 728 204 3,8 %

SANDNES INVESTERING AS  590 200 3,0 %
LUDVIG LORENTZEN AS  548 000 2,8 %
VICTORY LIFE  522 496 2,7 %
OPTINVEST II AS  515 502 2,7 %
SILJAN INDUSTRIER AS  515 502 2,7 %
ZICO AS  509 500 2,6 %
STOREBRAND VEKST  509 408 2,6 %
SIRIUS AS  420 000 2,2 %
MIDELFART INVEST AS  410 000 2,1 %
AKER PENSJONSKASSE  329 887 1,7 %
NHO - P665AK  299 000 1,5 %
IMS MARINE SERVICES AS  237 496 1,2 %
SIGNAL MEDIAHUS AS  222 000 1,1 %
OTHERS  5 821 401 30,0 %
Total number of shares  19 392 700 100,0 %

Share options
Share options are allotted to management and selected employees. The company does not have a standardised option 
programme. The exercise price for the options corresponds to the market price on the date of grants. The vesting of 
the options is normally contingent on the employees working for the company for one to three years after the options 
are granted (vesting period), with a few exceptions where the options are vest immediately. Some options have an 
indefinite exercise period. Others must be exercised within a year after the options have been vested, or within other 
dates that have been negotiated individually. Some options will have to be exercised within six months after a 
voluntary resignation or within one year after an employee has been terminated. For further details, see the 
expiration dates for the options below.
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Note 12. Capital and reserves  - continued

Movements in the number of outstanding share options and the associated weighted average exercise prices are as 
follows:

2012 2011
Average exercise 

price in NOK per 
share 

Options (in 
thousands) 

Average exercise 
price in NOK per 

share 

Options (in 
thousands) 

As of 1 January  13,69  639  14,85  554 
Granted  -  -  26,58  128 
Exercised  6,00  -100  16,65  -43 
Expired  21,58  -20  -  - 
As at 31 December  14,87  519  13,69  639 

Of the 518,900 outstanding options (2011: 638,900 options) there were 242,469 (2011: 475,732 options) that were 
exercisable. No options were issued in 2012 (2011: 43,667 shares issued at an average price of  NOK 16,65 per 
share). 20.000 options expired in 2012. The average weighted price for the exercised of options in 2012 was NOK 
6,00.

The outstanding share options (in 1000s) at the end of the year have the following expiration dates and exercise prices:

Expiration year Exercise price in 
NOK per share 

Number of options 

2012 2011
2012  6-15 0 9 
2012  16-25 0 26 
2013   3 180 180 
2013   6-15 6 0 
2013  16-25 158 151 
2013  26-39 8 8 
2015  26-39 128 128 
Infinite  6-15 32 132 
Infinite  16-25 8 6 
Total 519 639 

*Intervals have been consolidated and the weighted average exercise price has been used for the options.

The fair value of the options allotted is calculated by the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The most important 
input data is weighted average share price on the date of allotment,  the exercise prices listed above, standard 
deviation of the expected return on the shares, dividends, term of the option from a set of assumptions and an 
average risk-free interest rate . The duration of the risk-free interest rate is the same as the allotted options. The 
volatility has been measured by the standard deviation of the expected return on the shares. After the stock 
exchange introduction in June 2006, the company has access to its own data for the volatility of shares in Telio, and 
these numbers have, therefore, been used. It has been assumed that holders of more than 30,000 options exercise 
on average their options within three months after the vesting date. Holders of less than 30,000 options exercise on 
average their options nine months after the vesting date.
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Note 13. Trade  and other payables

(In thousands of NOK) 2012 2011

Trade accounts payable  48 427  44 600 
Accrued expenses ( payroll )  6 939  9 017 
Accrued expenses ( traffic )  14 105  19 260 
Public dues other than income tax  11 887  60 153 
Total trade payables and other current liabilities  81 358  133 031 

Public dues other than income tax include the VAT claim of NOK 50 million in 2011. This claim was paid in January 2012.

Note 14. Loans and borrowings
2012 2011

Long-term loans
Obligations related to financial lease agreements  1 281  3 216 
Total long-term loans  1 281  3 216 
Short-term loans
Obligations related to financial lease agreements  6 229  12 967 
Total short-term loans  6 229  12 967 

Total loans  7 509  16 183 

Security has been furnished for obligations associated with lease agreements by returning the leased asset to the 
lessor in the event of a breach. A total of NOK 13.8 million has been paid in leasing fees in 2012 (for 2011 it was 
paid NOK 14,3 million in leasing fees).The average annual interest paid to IBM in 2012 is 6,5%

2012 2011
Obligations from lease agreements – minimum lease payments:
Less than 1 year  6 563  13 240 
Later than 1 year, but not later than 5 years  1 349  3 504 
Minimum lease payments  7 912  16 745 
Future financing costs related to financial lease agreements  -403  -562 
Obligations from financial lease agreements  7 509  16 183 

Present value of obligations from financial lease agreements are as follows:
Less than 1 year  6 229  12 967 
Later than 1 year, but not later than 5 years  1 281  3 216 
Present value of obligations from financial lease agreements  7 509  16 183 

Payments that mature within one year are classified as current. Equipment from IBM is leased in 
accordance with a Fair Market Value (FMV) agreement. This agreement is based on Telio returning the 
equipment at the end of the term of the lease. Telio has an option to purchase the assets at the market 
price three months prior to the expiration of the agreement. Equipment from suppliers other than IBM 
are leased in accordance with a Standard Pay-Out (SPO) agreement.
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Note 15. Income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Cost of tax for the period (tax payable)
2012 2011

Tax payable  -18 223  -3 618 
Adjustment for previous years  1 827  - 
Total tax payable  -16 396  -3 618 

Deferred tax expense 
2012 2011

Change in temporary differences  2 141  1 850 
Adjustment for previous years  -  - 
Total deferred tax expense  2 141  1 850 

Income tax expense  -14 254  -1 768 

2012 2011

Profit before tax  51 008  32 069 

Taxes calculated at the rate in Norway (28%)  -14 282  -8 979 
Different tax rates (mainly Swiss tax rate of 18,8%)  1 283  6 378 
Non-taxable income or expenses  -1 255  2 013 
Unrecognised increase or reduction in deferred tax 
assets

 -  -583 

Other  382  -595 
Tax expense  -13 872  -1 767 

Effective tax rate 27% 6%

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets:                                                                     Consolidated income 
statement

2012 2011
Deferred tax assets
Receivables  1 759  555 
Deferred income  6 049  1 565 
Losses carried forward, etc.  8 534  11 227 
Deferred tax assets  16 342  13 347 
Of which are unrecognised deferred tax assets  -8 534  -9 563 
Deferred tax assets – gross  7 808  3 784 

Deferred tax
Tangible and intangible fixed assets  4 095  -4 926 
Other  -3 545  2 493 
Deferred tax – gross  550  -2 433 

Net recognised deferred tax assets  8 358  6 217 

Net recognised assets related to deferred tax  8 358  6 217 
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Note 15. Income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities 
2012 2011

Tax payment in the profit and loss account  18 223  3 618 
Previos years tax not paid  -  15 285 
Other  -2 230 -
Tax payable on the balance sheet  15 993  18 903 

Specification of deferred tax assets: 2012 2011
Deferred tax assets that reverse after more than 12 
months

 6 049  3 463 

Deferred tax assets that reverse in less than 12 months  1 759  442 
Total deferred tax assets – gross  7 808  3 905 

Specification of deferred tax: 2012 2011
Deferred tax that reverses after more than 12 months  4 095  2 122 
Deferred tax that reverses in less than 12 months  -3 545  190 
Total deferred tax – gross  550  2 312 

Assets related to deferred tax have not been recognised in connection with tax loss carryforwards in Danish 
subsidiaries totalling NOK 8,534 (2011: NOK 9,563). Assets related to deferred tax in the Norwegian companies have 
been recognised since it is probable that there will be future taxable income and that the temporary differences can be 
offset against this income.

Note 16. Deferred income/revenue

2012 2011
Specification of deferred revenues:
Deferred revenues from connection fees*  2 269  2 330 
Subscriptions  24 310  15 889 
Total deferred revenues  26 579  18 219 

* Deferred revenues related to the connection fees are accrued over the expected duration of customer relationships. 
They are classified as current since they are related to the group’s ordinary activities.
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Note 17. Provisions 2012 2011

Provisions at 1 January  1 124 3 316
Recognised as an expense during the year -294 -2 193
Paid during the year   -  - 
Provisions at 31 December  830 1 124

The provisions are related to employer’s National Insurance contributions for allotted options.

Note 18. Other revenues
2012 2011

Hardware sales  2 018  6 245 
Fees  17 233  11 920 
Porting  510  1 664 
Provisions  -  914 
Other  1 189  656 
Total other revenues  20 950  21 399 

Fees include invoicing fees, reminder fees, invoicing of adapters that are not returned, invoicing of agreement period violations.

Note 19. Employee benefits
2012 2011

Wages  -62 550  -53 121 
Social security tax  -8 512  -7 055 
Share options allotted to the management 
and employees*

 -384  -2 825 

Pension costs – defined contribution pension 
schemes

 -1 147  -944 

Capitalised personnel expenses**  8 213  7 543 
Other personnel expenses  -4 392  -3 172 
Total personnel expenses  -68 772  -59 574 

Average number of full-time equivalents  116  106 

* Including social security tax

** See Note 8 for intangible assets and Note 9 for development expenses.

Telio has a pension agreement for its employees in the Norwegian and Swiss companies. The agreement entails 2% savings for 
wages between 1-12 G (G = National Insurance basic amount) in Norway.  Telio recognises the payments on an ongoing basis.  
The company pays the monthly amount and the employees themselves choose their risk profile. The scheme includes a 
contribution or premium waiver in the event of disability and is in compliance with the Act on Occupational Pensions.  The 
company covers the administrative costs for the scheme. In Switzerland the pension agreements is regulated by law based on 
salary and age. 
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Note 20. Other expenses
2012 2011

Temporary employees  -20 054  -11 185 
Fees for professional services (attorneys, auditors, etc.)  -15 313  -12 456 
Travel and car expenses  -1 656  -1 497 
Office supplies, equipment and communication  -9 094  -4 313 
Office space  -4 952  -4 597 
Losses on receivables (realised losses and changes in provisions)  -5 491  -9 558 
Other  -2 789  -5 119 
Total other expenses  -59 349  -48 723 

VAT expense for previous years  -  -49 976 
Total  -59 349  -98 699 

Losses on receivables include NOK 3,3 million in realized losses and an increase in provision for bad debt of NOK 
2.2 million.
The NOK 50 mill in 2011 is related to a settled VAT-claim.

Customer acquisition costs  -21 311  -12 046 
Other sales and marketing costs  -4 261  -5 447 

 -25 572  -17 493 

Audit fees

Statutory auditing  1 105  1 123 
Other certification services 255  - 
Tax consulting 282  - 
Other services  312  366 
Total auditing services  1 954  1 489 

The services above include services provided by the auditor’s partner law firm and advisors. Statutory 
auditing includes audit-related services (assistance). 
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Note 21.  Finance income and finance cost
2012 2011

Interest income – bank deposits  1 887  1 261 
Other finance income  37  35 
Foreign exchange gains  1 079  2 648 
Total finance income  3 004  3 944 

Interest expenses  -533  -968 
Interest cost of lease agreements  -792  -1 200 
Other finance expenses  -  -270 
Foreign exchange losses  -3 313  -2 566 
Total finance expenses  -4 639  -5 004 

Net finance cost  -1 635  -1 061 

Note 22. Earnings per share
2012 2011

Net profit for the year attributable to the 
company’s shareholders

 37 136  30 298 

Weighted average of number of outstanding 
shares ( ‘000s )

 19 061  19 203 

Dilution effect of outstanding options to employees 
and employee representatives

 242  625 

Average number of shares including dilution 
(‘000s )

 19 304  19 828 

Basic earnings per share (NOK per share) 1,92 1.59
Diluted earnings per share (NOK per share) 1,89 1.56

Telio Holding ASA has a total of 518,900 options to employees and employee representatives outstanding as at 
31 December 2012, 355,000 of which are to employees in the parent company. The exercise price for options 
varies from NOK 3 to NOK 39,00. The term of the options varied from a period of 3 years to infinite. Only the 
outstanding options that have a diluting effect have been included when the diluted number of shares has been 
calculated. The options that have a diluting effect are those that have an exercise price that is lower than the 
average market price. The average market price was NOK 26,99 in 2012, and the total number of options with 
a diluting effect was 242,469 options.
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Note 23. Operating leases

The group leases office space for its head office in Oslo
2012 2011

Less than one year  2 604  2 119 
Between one and five years  7 976  8 185 
More than five years  -  - 
Total  10 580  10 304 

In January 2010 a new 5 year + 4 months lease was entered into with I/S Klaveness for premises at Skøyen. 
The minimum annual lease payment is NOK 2,604,000. The lease payment can be adjusted annually in 
accordance with Statistics Norway’s consumer price index. In Denmark and Swizerland office space is leased 
on short term contracts. In addition Telio has entered into a lease contract for a shop in Brugata 1 in Oslo 
valid until 31.05.2015. The minimum annual lease payment is NOK 131,800.

Note 24. Related parties

Telio Holding ASA has agreements with the companies Synesi AS (Espen Fjogstad, shareholder) and Creo 
Advisors AS (Arne Reinemo) relating to the delivery of consulting services as required. Arne Reinemo 
owns shares in Telio Holding ASA through Siljan Industrier AS. All services prvided by these companies are 
priced on an arm’s lenght basis and outstanding balances are to be settled in cash within 30 days.

The following transactions were carried out:
2012 2011

Purchase of services
Synesi AS  40  105 
Creo Advisors AS  309  55 
Total purchase of services  349  160 

Of which reimbursement of expenses
Creo Advisors AS  5  38 
Synesi AS  4  19 
Total reimbursement of expenses  9  57 
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Note 25. Remuneration of key executives, Board of Directors, etc.      
      
Statement on executive remuneration      
This executive remuneration statement applies to remuneration for work performed by key executives in the Telio Group. Telio 
shall strive to have a management that can safeguard the interests of the shareholders at any given time in the best 
possible manner.  In order to achieve this the company must offer competitive terms to the individual managers with a view to 
an overall compensation package.      
      
The Board of Directors reviews the guidelines annually, and the statement is presented to the General Meeting for review in 
accordance with Section 5-6 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act.       
     
1.     Principles for base salary       
      
Key employees shall have a competitive base salary that is based on the performance and responsibility of the individual 
employee.      
      
2.     Principles for variable benefits, incentive schemes, etc.      
      
Key employees can receive a variable salary. A variable salary is based on the achievement of targets for the group or the 
department or company where the individual is employed. The targets may consist of the achievement of various 
improvement measures or financial criteria. Such criteria can be stipulated by the Board of Directors for the CEO and by the 
CEO for other key executives.  The targets should be measurable to the greatest possible extent. There will be a limit on the 
amount of variable performance related benefits that an employee can receive.      
The Board of Directors will evaluate on an annual basis whether an option programme for key executives shall be presented to 
the General Meeting. In the company’s opinion it is in principle positive for the long-term creation of value in the 
company that key executives own shares or options in the company. The Board of Directors can offer options to key 
executives if the General Meeting has granted the authority to do so.  The exercise price for the option shall be the market value 
or higher when the employment contract was signed.  The vesting period should be a total of three years typically.     
        
3.     Principles for benefits without any cash payment      
      
Key executives may be offered various benefits such as a company car, insurance, pensions, etc. Benefits in kind shall 
primarily be offered in the form of free broadband access, broadband telephony and mobile telephony so that the key 
employees are available to the company.       
      
Key employees are entitled to participation in the defined contribution pension scheme in the same manner as other 
company employees. At present the pension scheme terms are the same for all employees.      
      
4.     Severance pay schemes      
      
The CEO has an agreement that entitles him to severance pay of 18 months for termination by the employer. The company’s 
policy is that key executives shall have a notice period of from three to six months.  The notice period is six months for the Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Technical Officer and Chief Sales Officer.  The notice period for the commercial 
director and managing director in Denmark is the same as other employees, namely three months.     
  
      
The CEO has a severance pay scheme, but not the other key executives.  If severance pay is agreed on with an employee who 
does not have this documented in his employment contract, then it shall be approved by the Chairman of the Board. The CFO 
will be paid 3 month’s severance pay in addition to the ordinary notice period of 6 months in the event of a “Change of Control” 
         
5.     Processes for remuneration agreements      
      
The Board of Directors review the CEO’s salary terms annually at a meeting.        
   
These guidelines have been in effect for 2012 and will also apply to 2013. No new remuneration agreements were established nor 
existing agreements amended in 2012 that could have had significant consequences for the company and its shareholders.  
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Remuneration to key executives in 2012
(In thousands of NOK)

Name Position  Salary

Share 
options 

exercised Bonus
Other 

remuneration

Mandatory 
Occupa-

tional 
Pension

Total 
remuneration 

in 2012
Eirik Lunde CEO  2 086  -  1 225  215  17  3 543 
Tom Nøttveit CFO  1 181  -  163  129  17  1 491 
Alan Duric CTO  1 456  -  143  -  -  1 598 
Jens Hetland Sales & Marketing 

Director - Residential
 955  -  275  13  17  1 260 

Thomas Gunleiksrud Sales & Marketing 
Director -Business

 959  -  352  112  12  1 436 

Nina Forsberg Mathiesen Director Customer 
Services

 781  -  212  18  13  1 024 

Erik Trondsen * Product Director  -  -  -  1 055  -  1 055 
 

Remuneration to key executives in 2011

Name Position  Salary

Share 
options 

and bonus 
paid Bonus

Other 
remuneration

Mandatory 
Occupational 

Pension

Total 
remuneration 

in 2011
Eirik Lunde CEO  2 025  -  -  239  18  2 281 
Tom Nøttveit CFO  1 185  -  100  133  18  1 436 
Alan Duric CTO  944  -  105  -  -  1 050 
Jens Hetland Sales & Marketing 

Director - Residential
 958  -  195  18  17  1 188 

Thomas Gunleiksrud *) Sales & Marketing 
Director -Business

 658  -  143  91  17  909 

Nina Forsberg Mathiesen Director Customer 
Services

 786  -  180  17  13  996 

Directors’ fees

Total 
remuneration in 

2012

Total 
remuneration 

in 2011

Erik Osmundsen (Board Chairman) 250 250
Aril Resen  100 100
Richard Kosowsky  - 33,3
Ingrid Simunic  - 33,3
Marit Wetterhus  25 100
Odd Johnny Winge  100  75 
Liv Bergtorsdottir  100  75 
Cecilie Amdahl  20  39 
Haakon Dyrnes  -  - 
Arnhild Schia  -  - 
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*) - Erik Trondsen is an externally hired consultant

* ) Thomas Gunleiksrud was employeed from 01.04.2011



Note  26. Guarantees            
Telio Holding ASA has furnished a guarantee for Telio SA and Telio Telecom AS to Svea Finans NUF 
(factoring agreement at a maximum of  NOK 40,000,000).For Telio Telecom AS to Telenor Telecom Solutions AS (interconnect 
agreement NOK 12,000,000) and IBM Global Finance AS (agreement relating to the financing of adapters and hardware - NOK 
8,000,000)  all financed by a bankguarantee on NOK 15.494.200        
    
Telio Holding ASA has issued a guarantee for continued operations until 31 December 2013 for the subsidiary Tellio ApS, which 
has negative equity.      
Telio Holding ASA has issued a guarantee to KPN in the Netherlands for the interconnect agreement entered into with the 
subsubsidiary Telio Netherlands BV. This guarantee entails that the company must redeem 
obligations that Telio Netherlands BV is not able to service itself.      
      
Telio Holding ASA has issued a guarantee to Curabill in Switzerland for an invoicing and factoring agreement entered into with the 
subsubsidiary Telio Telecom AG. This guarantee entails that the company must redeem obligations that Telio Telecom AG is not 
able to service itself.      
      
Telio Telecom AS has issued a guarantee to Tele2 Nederland BV for the interconnect agreement entered into with the subsidiary 
Telio Netherlands BV. This guarantee entails that the company must redeem 
obligations that Telio Netherlands BV is not able to service itself.      
      
Telio Telecom AS has issued a guarantee to Verizon Switzerland AG concerning the agreement entered into with the subsidiary 
Telio Telecom AG. This guarantee entails that the company must redeem obligations that Telio Telecom AG is not able to service 
itself.           
Telio Holding ASA has on behalf of Tellio ApS given a guarantee to Post Danmark AS og Post Danmark AS Logistik limited to 
DKK 100,000.      
      
Telio Telecom AS has issued a guarantee to Sameiet I/S Klaveness Kontor until 31.10.2015 as a guarantee for the office rent for the 
headoffice in Oslo.       
      
Telio SA has issued a Subordination Agreement to Telio Telecom (Schweiz) AG on CHF 3.281.651 to cover a loan issued by 
31.12.2012.     
           
Telio Telecom AS has issued a guarantee on NOK 1.000.000  to Post & Teletilsynet until 31.12.2012 for 
participating in an 2GHz-auction.      
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Shares and options in the company 
owned by board members and key 
executives as at 31 December 2012
Name

Number 
of shares

Number of 
options

Average 
exercise 

price
Position 

Erik Osmundsen* Board Chairman  515 502  - -
Aril Resen*** Board Member  1 500 000  -  - 
Espen Fjogstad** Board Observer  750 000  -  - 
Eirik Lunde CEO  107 252  280 000 10,7
Tom Nøttveit****** CFO  47 500  75 000 16,0
Alan Duric**** CTO  2 010 000  - 0,0
Thomas Gunleiksrud Sales & Marketing 

Director
 3 500  12 500 29,5

Jens Hetland ***** Sales & Marketing 
Director

 59 800  25 000 24,0

* Erik Osmundsen - indirectly through ownership interest in Optinvest III AS
** Espen Fjogstad -indirectly through ownership interest in Synesi AS
*** Aril Resen - indirectly through ownership interest in Xfile AS
**** Alan Duric - indirectly through ownership interest in Talir Holding AS
***** Jens Hetland - Indirectely through Avita AS
******Tom Nøttveit - indirectely through Prosperis Invest AS



Note 27. Financial instruments 

i) Credit risk:

Summary of maximum credit risk exposure at 31 December:
2012 2011

Gross receivables before provisions for losses  25 978  17 655 
Provision for bad debt  -5 393  -3 195 
Net receivables after provision for bad debt  20 585  14 460 

Cash and cash equivalents  52 469  93 910 

Maximum credit exposure for trade accounts receivable by 
geographic origin at 31 December:

2012 2011

Norway  7 452  3 297 
Denmark  3 428  1 394 
Switzerland  1 953  58 
Netherlands  7 752  9 712 

 20 585  14 460 

Maximum credit exposure for trade accounts receivable by 
type of customer at 31 December:

2012 2011

Residential customers  16 861  12 697 
Business customers  3 724  1 763 

 20 585  14 460 

The aging of trade recievables at 31 December
2012 2011

Gross Net (after 
provisions) 

Gross Net (after 
provisions) 

Not past due  12 475  14 582  12 611  12 611 
Past due 0-30 days  4 514  4 514  438  438 
Past due 31-60 days  1 530  825  308  308 
Past due 61-90 days  1 234  115  489  231 
More than 91 days  6 225  549  3 809  872 

 25 978  20 585  17 655  14 460 
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The movement in the provision for bad debt 
during the year was as follows

2012 2011

Balance at 1 January  -3 195  -20 627 
Recognised during the period  -2 198  17 432 
Balance at 31 December  -5 393  -3 195 

Realised losses recognised in income 
statement

 5 491  9 558 

Realised losses recognised against equity *)  -  2,920 

ii) Liquidity risk:

31/12/2012
Book 
value

Contrac-
tual cash 

flows

6 
months 

or less
6-12 

months 1-2 years
2-5 

years

More 
than 5 

years

Non-derivative financial commitments
Trade payables  27 120  27 120  27 120  -  -  -  - 
Other current liabilities  54 238  54 238  54 238  -  -  -  - 
Financial leases  7 509  7 912  3 755  3 755  1 281  -  - 

31/12/2011
Book 
value

Contrac-
tual cash 

flows

6 
months 

or less
6-12 

months 1-2 years
2-5 

years

More 
than 5 

years

Non-derivative financial commitments
Trade payables  24 600  24 600  24 600  -  -  -  - 
Other current liabilities  108 430  108 430  108 430  -  -  -  - 
Financial leases  16 183  16 745  12 583  8 983  3 216  -  - 
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*) Related to realization of losses on accounts receivables classified as error in previous years.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of netting agreements



iii) Foreign exchange risk:

Exposure to foreign exchange risk
The group’s exposure to foreign currency 
risks was as follows:

31/12/2012
NOK EUR DKK SEK CHF Total

Trades  receivables  24 936  7 752  4 694  36  2 072  39 490 
Bank deposits  41 818  4 455  2 431  18  3 747  52 469 
Trade payable  23 173  2 509  1 190  3  246  27 121 
Other current liabilities  79 582  1 170  4 140  8  3 443  88 343 

Gross exposure:  169 509  15 886  12 455  65  9 508  207 423 

31/12/2011
NOK EUR DKK SEK CHF Total

Trades receivables  40 945  10 562  4 446  36  214  56 203 
Bank deposits  82 061  2 246  2 971  19  6 613  93 910 
Trade payable  35 314  6 140  2 106  -  1 040  44 600 
Other current liabilities  83 722  1 875  1 765  8  1 060  88 430 

Gross exposure:  242 042  20 823  11 288  63  8 927  283 143 

Key exchange rates throughout the year: Rate on the date of the 
balance sheetAverage rate

2012 2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

SEK  85,93  86,31  85,49  87,01 
DKK  100,41  104,59  98,40  104,30 
CHF  6,20  633,53  6,08  637,87 
EUR  7,47  7,79  7,34  7,75 

Sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analysis applies to a change in the exchange rate with a view to the translation of subsidiaries 
(monetary items in Norwegian companies are not included). A 10% stronger NOK against the following 
currencies would have entailed an increase (reduction) in the equity and profit/loss as illustrated in table 
below. The analysis requires that the other variables, and the interests rates in particular, remain constant.

10% - stronger NOK 2012 2011
31/12/2012 Equity Profit/

Loss
Equity Profit/Loss

SEK  7  -196  196  10 
DKK  175  398  3 742  43 
CHF  11  4  846  377 
EUR  -1 288  -1 214  -100  -609 
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iv) Interest rate risk:

Profile
At the end of the year the group had the 
following interest-bearing financial instruments.

31/12/2012 31/12/2011
Fixed rate instruments:
Financial assets  -  - 
Financial liabilities (leasing)  7 509  16 183 

 7 509  16 183 

Variable rate  instruments:
Financial assets  52 469  93 910 
Financial liabilities  -  - 

 52 469  93 910 

Sensitivity analysis – fixed rate instruments

Profit/Equity
31/12/2012 1% increase 1% decrease

Financial liabilities (leasing)  75  -75 

Sensitivity analysis – variable rate instruments 
A 1%/100 basis points change in the interest rate on the date of the balance sheet would have increased/reduced the 
equity and profit or loss as illustrated in the table below. The analysis requires that the other variables, and the foreign 
exchange rates in particular, remain constant.

Profit/Equity
31/12/2012 1% increase 1% decrease

Financial assets  525  -525 
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v) Fair value

A significant share of the assets are liquid reserves and trade receivables. Trade receivables have been reduced 
by provisions for expected losses, and are regarded as reflecting the fair value. Fixed assets have been tested 
for impairment and the book value is regarded as reflecting the fair value.

Currency hedging

In 2011 th Group purchased currency futures in Euro and USD to hedge against fluctuations in monthly cost of 
goods sold (traffic costs) as follows (no further hedging contracts were entered into in 2012):

30/1/2012 28/2/2012 28/3/2012 27/4/2012 25/5/2012
USD 250 000 5,739 5,747 5,785 5,793 5,799
EUR 170 000 7,825 7,837

28/6/2012 27/7/2012 28/8/2012
USD 250 000 5,806 5,813 5,819

Effect forward exchange contracts

Net change in: 2011
EUR 289

NOK to actual exchange rate 2,257
NOK to fair value 2,272
Exchange gain/loss 15

Net change in: 2011
USD 253

NOK to actual exchange rate 1,451
NOK to fair value 1,526
Exchange gain/loss 75

Total exchange gain/loss 90

In 2012 the forward contracts have given a gain of NOK 29 (a gain on USD of NOK 105,5 and a loss on EUR 
of -NOK 76) , accounted as financial income.
As of 31 December 2012 the Group has  EUR 105 og USD 7 in the bank, and stated cash and cash 
equivalents in the balance.
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Note 28: Subsequent events
On 19 December 2012, Telio Holding ASA and TeliaSonera Norge Holding AB signed an agreement whereby 
Telio shall acquire TeliaSonera’s wholly owned subsidiary NextGenTel AS. Through the acquisition, Telio will become 
number three provider of fixed broadband in the Norwegian market and the number two provider of xDSL 
broadband. The acquisition price is NOK 601 million on an enterprise value basis without any interest-bearing 
debt, but with cash holdings of NOK 30 million at closing of the acquisition. The acquisition is financed through 
senior loan facilities from Nordea totalling NOK 500 million and NOK 100 million in new shares. The acquisition 
represents a step-change for Telio as the company more than doubles its size and significantly broadens it product 
offering in its core Norwegian market. The acquisition was completed on 31 January  2013. For more detailed 
information, reference is made to the stock exchange notice published on 20 December 2012 and an Information 
Memorandum published on 20 February 2013.

The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred: 

Consideration transferred
Own cash 1
Equity instruments to T.D.Veen AS ( 1.200.000 shares) 30
Equity instruments to TeliaSonera  Norge Holding AB ( 2,690,480 shares) 70
Term loan in Nordea 200
Bridge-loan in Nordea until planned bond issue in 2013 300
Consideration transferred 601

At completion of the acqusition on 31 January 2013, the 1,2 millon shares to T.D.Veen AS were issued at NOK 25 per 
share. The 2,69 million consideration shares to TeliaSonera were issued based on a volume weighted share price of  
NOK 26,02 per share.
The following is based upon the Company’s preliminary puchase price allocation analysis and is subject to change.

Preliminary PPA *)
Purchase price 601
Net asset at historical cost in NextGenTel AS after distribution of excess cash. -428
Excess value to be allocated to acquired net assets 173
Estimated adjustments to carrying value acquired net assets:
Intangible assets (write down) -59
Deferred tax 17
Goodwill 216
Excess value 173

*) When the closing balance is finalised the consideration paid of NOK 601 million presented as a basis for the 
calculation of the goodwill will also be modified in the final PPA, and have a direct impact of the goodwill that would 
be presented in the final PPA. The PPA is beeing prepared by a third party and is not finalaised at this stage.
The goodwill recognised is based on the believes that this transaction not only secures Telio’s in-house capabilities 
and delivery of broadband services, but also significantly expands Telio’s customer base. The combined entity will 
thus have substantial potential for cross-selling of services to the combined company’s customer portofolio. 
Furthermore, the combined entity will have significant potential for realizing scale benefits and more cost effective 
operations.
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Condenced balance sheet post PPA of acquiered assets and liabilities:

ASSETS
Intangible assets 159 000
Goodwill 216 000
Property and land 53 000
Machinery and Fixtures 201 000
Accounts receivables 152 000
Other receivables 38 000
Cash and cash equivalents 30 000
Total assets 849 000

LIABILITIES
Accounts payables 78 000
Other current liabilities 170 000
Total liabilities 248 000
Excess value prliminary allocated 601 000

Condenced 2012 profit and loss information for NetxtGenTel and Telio (pro forma):

Sales revenues 1 316 499
Net operating Income 1 316 499

Cost of materials 612 040
Payroll and related cost 220 167
Depreciation 140 966
Other operating expenses 277 460
Total operating expenses 1 250 633

Profit/loss from operations 65 866
Net financial items -26 312

PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAXES 39 554
Income tax -11 476
Results 28 078

Transaction costs expenced in 2012 is NOK 5 million.

The following table presents proforma financial information as if the transaction described above had occurred as of 
1 January 2012. This information is based upon the historical financial information of Telio and NextGenTel and 
includes the effects of conforming accouning policies and the estimated purchase price adjustments resulting 
from the acquisition.
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Telio Holding ASA
INCOME STATEMENT

Note 2012 2011

Other operating revenues 1  8 146  10 716 
Total operating revenues  8 146  10 716 

Payroll expenses 2  7 004  8 659 
Other operating expenses 3  8 593  5 956 
Total operating expenses  15 597  14 614 

Operating profit/loss  (7 450)  (3 898)

Financial income 4  92 364  54 127 
Financial expenses 4  2 000  850 

Profit/loss on ordinary activities before tax  82 914  49 379 

Taxes on ordinary profit 5  (13 763)  616 

Profit/loss for the year  69 151  49 995 

Allocations
Dividend provision  -  47 524 
Transferred (from) to other reserves  69 151  2 471 
Total allocations  69 151  49 995 

Group contribution to subsidiaries 20 197 -
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Telio Holding ASA
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 

Note 2012 2011
ASSETS

Fixed assets
Fixed asset investments
Deferred tax asset  -  292 
Investments in subsidiaries 6  48 686  28 250 
Total fixed asset investments  48 686  28 542 

Total fixed assets  48 686  28 542 

Current assets
Receivables
Intercompany receivables 12 69 396 54 825 
Other receivables 7  120  178 
Total receivables  69 516  55 003 

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 8  1 154  15 472 

Total current assets  70 670  70 476 

TOTAL ASSETS  119 356  99 017 
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Telio Holding ASA
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 

Note 2012 2011
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY 
Called-up and fully paid share capital
Share capital 9,10  1 912  1 901 
Other paid-in equity 9  11 365  10 299 
Total called-up and fully paid share capital  13 277  12 200 

Retained earnings
Other reserves 9  71 172  2 141 
Total retained earnings  71 172  2 141 

Total equity  84 449  14 341 

LIABILITIES
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 5  108  - 
Total other long-term liabilities  108  - 

Current liabilities
Dividend payable 9  -  47 523 
Trade accounts payable  35  151 
Tax payable 5  11 810  - 
Intercompany liabilities 13 13 187  32 096 
Other current liabilities 8, 

11,16
 9 767  4 906 

Total current liabilities 34 799  84 675 

Total liabilities  34 907  84 676 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 119 356  99 017 

Oslo, 19 March 2013
Board of Directors of
Telio Holding ASA

     Erik Osmundsen            Aril Resen              Haakon Dyrnes
Chairman of the Board                            (sign.)                            (sign.)
              (sign.)  

      Arnhild Schia                  Liv Bergtorsdottir            Eirik Lunde
            (sign.)                (sign.)                             CEO    
                                             (sign.)
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Telio Holding ASA
CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities Note
Profit before tax  82 914  49 379 
Paid taxes 5  -  - 
Change in trade accounts payable  (116)  95 
Non-cash transactions related to option costs  336  2 385 
Changes in inter-company receiveables and payables (93 865) -
Changes in other accrual items 3 244  7 222 
Net cash flow from operating activities  (7 487)  59 081 

Cash flows from investment activities
Payments for the purchase of other investments / share capital increases 
in subsidiaries

-  (638)

Net cash flow from investment activities -  (638)

Cash flows from financing activities
New loans (intercompany) -  24 510 
Payments/receipts for purchase/sale of treasury shares 9  742  (4 929)
Receipts/payments from new/repayment of long-term debt 13  -  (6 346)
Dividends paid  (47 524)  (57 266)
Payments group contributions 39 950  426 
Net cash flow from financing activities  (6 832)  (43 605)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (14 319)  14 838 
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period  15 472  635 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  1 154  15 472 
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Accounting principles
The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Norwegian Accounting Act and gen-
erally accepted accounting policies in effect as at 31 December 2012.

Revenue
Telio Holding ASA is a holding company: The company’s revenues come from the invoicing of intra-group services 
performed on behalf of subsidiaries. 

Other operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in the same period as the associated operating revenues (matching principle) 
or they are treated as a period cost and are recognised in the period the delivery refers to. Examples of period costs 
include rent, insurance, payroll expenses, employer’s National Insurance contributions, various types of subscriptions, 
etc. 

Options
The management and other employees are awarded options that give entitlement to subscription for shares in the com-
pany. The fair value of the services that the company has received from the employees as a return service for the options 
granted are accounted for as an expense. The total amount to be recognised as an expense over the vesting period is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted. Other paid-up capital is a contra entry for for expenses 
that are charged to the income statement.

The payments received in connection with the exercise of options, less directly attributable transaction expenses, are 
credited to the share capital (nominal value) and the share premium when the options are exercised. 

Provisions are set aside for the employer’s National Insurance contributions for employee options based on the market 
value of the options. 

Classification and valuation of balance sheet items
Assets intended for long-term ownership or use are classified as fixed assets. Receivables are classified as current assets 
if they are to be repaid within one year after the date of disbursement. Analogous criteria are used for the classification 
of liabilities.

Current assets are valued at the lesser of historical cost or fair value. Current liabilities are recognised at nominal value 
on the date the liability is established.

Fixed assets are valued at historical cost. Tangible fixed assets that reduce in value are depreciated by the straight-line 
method over the expected economic life of the asset. Fixed assets are written down to their fair value when the fall in 
value is not expected to be of a temporary nature. Long-term liabilities denominated in NOK, with the exception of 
other provisions, are recorded on the balance sheet according to the nominal amount of the liability at the time it was 
established. 

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures are valued in accordance with the cost method in the company 
accounts. The investment is valued at the historical cost of the shares unless a write-down of the shares has been neces-
sary. 

Group contributions paid to subsidiaries, less a deduction for taxes, are entered as an increased cost price for the 
shares.

Dividends/group contributions received are recognised as income in the same year provisions are made in the subsid-
iary.  When the dividends/group contribution significantly exceed the share of the retained earnings after the acquisi-
tion, the excess amount is regarded as repayment of invested capital and is deducted from the value of the investment 
on the balance sheet. 



Receivables
Receivables are recognised on the balance sheet at the nominal value, less a provision for estimated losses. Loss 
allocations are made based on individual assessments of the actual amounts owed. 

Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction. Receivables 
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the rate in effect on the date of the balance sheet.

Taxes
Tax in the income statement encompasses both the tax payable for the period and the change in deferred taxes. 
Deferred tax is calculated at the rate of 28 per cent on the basis of temporary differences that exist between the financial 
accounting and tax-related values, in addition to any tax loss carryforward at the end of the accounting year. Tax 
increasing and tax reducing temporary differences, which reverse or can be reversed in the same period, are offset 
against each other. Deferred tax assets attributed to net tax-reducing differences that are not offset and the tax loss 
carryforward are based on estimated future earnings. Deferred tax and tax assets that can be recorded on the balance 
sheet are recorded on a net basis on the balance sheet.

Tax on any group contributions paid that is accounted for as an increase in the cost price for shares in other 
companies and tax on any group contributions received that is posted directly against equity has been posted directly 
against tax on the balance sheet (it is posted against tax payable if the group contribution has affected tax payable and 
against deferred tax if the group contribution has affected deferred tax).

Cash Flow Statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank 
deposits and other short-term liquid investments that can be converted immediately without any significant exchange 
rate risk for a known cash amount, and the maturity date must be less than three months from the purchase date.

Contingent liabilities
The group recognises provisions for any environmental improvements, restructuring and legal requirements when: 
There is a legal or constructive liability as a result of earlier events, and it can be proven probable that a financial 
settlement will take place as a result of this liability, and the liability can be estimated with an adequate degree of 
reliability. Provisions are not allocated for future operating losses.

In cases where there are additional liabilities of the same nature, the probability that the liability will be settled will be 
assessed for the group as a whole. Provisions for the group are recognised even if the probability for settlement related 
to the group’s  individual elements may be low.

Provisions are measured as the net present value of the expected payments to redeem the liability. A pre-tax discount 
rate is used that reflects the current market situation and risk specific to the liability. An increase in the liability as the 
result of a change in the time value is recognised as an interest cost. 

Loans
Loans are recognised at their fair value when they are disbursed, less any transaction costs. In subsequent periods, 
loans are recognised at their amortised cost, as calculated by means of the effective interest rate. The difference between 
the loan amount disbursed (less transaction costs) and the redemption value are recognized in the income statement 
over the term of the loan. 
Loans are classified as current liabilities unless there is an unconditional right to postpone payment of the debt by more 
than 12 months from the date of the balance sheet. 
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Note 1 Operating revenues

2012 2011

Intra-group sale of services  8 146  10 716 
Total  8 146  10 716 

Note 2 Payroll expenses, number of employees, 
other remunerations, loans to employees, etc.

2012 2011

Wages and salaries  5 201  4 775 
Directors’ fees  595  710 
Social security tax  818  632 
Pension costs  42  36 
Option costs  296  2 470 
Other benefits  52  36 
Total  7 004  8 659 

Number of man-years during financial year  2  2 

The option costs also include provisions for social security tax related to Telio Holding’s option agreements.
Telio entered into a pension agreement for its employees as at 1 July 2006. This agreement entails 2% savings for wages between 
1-12 G (G = National Insurance basic amount). Telio recognises payments on an ongoing basis.  The company pays a monthly 
amount, and the employees themselves choose their risk profile.  The scheme includes a contribution or premium waiver in the 
event of disability, and is in compliance with the Act on Occupational Pensions. The company covers the administrative costs 
for the scheme.

Benefits to key executives
Name/Function

Salary

Share 
options 

and bonus 
paid in 

2012
Other 

remuneration

Mandatory 
Occupational 

Pension

Total 
remuneration

Eirik Lunde - CEO  2 136  1 225  165  18  3 544 
Tom Nøttveit - CFO  1 181  163  134  18  1 497 
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The CEO will be paid his fixed salary for 8 months if he is requested to resign from his position. The CFO will be paid 3 months’ 
severance pay in addition to the ordinary notice period of 6 months in the event of a “Change of Control”. There are no loan/
guarantees to the CEO, Chairman or other related parties. There is no loan/guarantees that represents more than 5% of the 
company’s equity.
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Auditor 2012 2011

Statutory audit  290  425 
Other certification services  65  - 
Tax consulting  160  - 
Other services  202  176 
Total auditing fees  717  601 

Auditing fees are exclusive of VAT.

Note 3 Other operating expenses 2012 2011
 
External services  7 490  4 780 
Travel costs  171  223 
Advertising, agent and sales costs  195  197 
Other expenses  736  756 
Total  8 593  5 956 

Note 4 Finance

Financial income 2012 2011

Interest income  248  - 
Interest income from group companies  1 743  144 
Dividends from subsidiaries (Telio SA/Telio Ip Services BV)  34 827  14 033 
Group contributions from subsidiaries  55 546  39 950 
Total financial income  92 364  54 127 

Financial expenses 2012 2011

Interest paid to group companies  1 742  681 
Foreign exchange losses  256  168 
Other interest paid  2  1 
Total financial expenses  2 000  850 
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Note 5 Taxes

Specification of income tax expenses 2012 2011
Payable tax on profit  11 810  - 
Tax group contribution  1 553  - 
Change in deferred tax  400  (616)
Total  13 763  (616)

Reconciliation of change in deferred taxes 2012 2011

Change in deferred taxes in the balance sheet  400  (616)
Change in deferred tax on the income statement  400  (616)

Calculation of deferred tax assets/liabilities

Temporary differences: 2012 2011

Accounting provisions  385  (700)
Taxable income 3% dividend  -  - 
Net temporary profit/loss differences  385  (700)
Tax loss carryforward  -  (342)
Basis for deferred tax / tax assets  385  (1 042)

28% tax on deferred tax assets/liabilities  108  (292)
Of which off-balance-sheet deferred tax assets  -  - 
Deferred tax asset in balance sheet  108  (292)

Basis for tax payable 2012 2011

Profit/loss before tax  82 914  49 379 
Permanent differences   (33 761)  (51 578)
Change in temporary profit/loss differences  (1 085)  1 856 
Received (unrecognized) / group contribution  (5 548)  - 
Basis for tax payable  42 520  (342)
Utilisation of tax-related losses  (342)  - 
Taxable income  42 178  (342)
Tax payable  11 810  - 

Explanation of taxes 2012 2011

Profit/loss before tax  82 914  49 379 
Nominal tax (28%)  23 216  13 826 
Tax effect of permanent differences  (9 453)  (14 442)
Recognised tax charge  13 763  (616)

Effective tax rate (as a percentage of profit/loss before tax) -17% 1%
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Note 6 Investment in subsidiaries

Telio Holding ASA

Subsidiaries
Business 

office

Own-
ership 

interest
Profit/loss 

for year Equity capital Book value

Telio Telecom AS Oslo 100%  26 792  14 678 40 474
Telio SA Zürich 100%  9 915  18 069  2 316 
Gojitek AG Zürich 100%  (210)  524  638 
Telio Project AS Oslo 100%  779  1 923  1 085 
Telio IP Services BV Amsterdam 100%  8 456  8 727  156 
Gojitek AS Oslo 100%  (678)  7 702  4 017 
Book value as at 31 December 48 686

Note 7 Other receivables 2012 2011

Other receivables  120  178 
Total  120  178 

Restricted bank deposits 2012 2011

Tax withholdings  232  221 

Drawing rights granted

Note 9 Equity capital
Treasury 

shares
Other paid-in 

equity Other reservesShare capital Total
Equity as at 1 January  1 939  -38  10 299  2 141  14 341 
Options redeemed  -  11  731  -  742 
Reversal of dividends  -  -  -  (121)  (121)
Option costs  -  -  336  -  336 
Purchase of treasury shares  -  -  -  -  - 
Profit/loss for year  -  -  -  69 151  69 151 
Provisions for dividends  -  -  -  -  - 
Equity as at 31 December  1 939  (27)  11 365  71 172  84 449 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with the cost method.

The company owns 275,001 treasury shares as at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: 383,334 shares).

Note 8 Restricted bank deposits, drawing rights and guarantees

Telio Holding ASA has no agreed overdraft facility. 
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Note 10 Share capital and shareholder information

List of all the largest shareholders as at 31 December 2012

Shareholder’s name Number of 
shares  Percentage 

TALIR HOLDING AS  2 010 000 10,4 %
XFILE AS  1 500 000 7,7 %
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK  1 204 400 6,2 %
FRANK MOHN A/S  930 000 4,8 %
VEEN A/S  819 704 4,2 %
SYNESI AS  750 000 3,9 %
VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALFRED BERG GAMBAK  728 204 3,8 %
SANDNES INVESTERING AS  590 200 3,0 %
LUDVIG LORENTZEN AS  548 000 2,8 %
VICTORY LIFE  522 496 2,7 %
OPTINVEST II AS  515 502 2,7 %
SILJAN INDUSTRIER AS  515 502 2,7 %
ZICO AS  509 500 2,6 %
STOREBRAND VEKST  509 408 2,6 %
SIRIUS AS  420 000 2,2 %
MIDELFART INVEST AS  410 000 2,1 %
AKER PENSJONSKASSE  329 887 1,7 %
NHO - P665AK  299 000 1,5 %
IMS MARINE SERVICES AS  237 496 1,2 %
SIGNAL MEDIAHUS AS  222 000 1,1 %
OTHERS  5 821 401 30,0 %
Total number of shares  19 392 700 100,0 %

Total number of shares issued is 19,392,700 (2011: 19,392,700) with a nominal value of NOK 0.10 per share.
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In accordance with the authority granted by the General Meeting of Telio Holding ASA, the Board of 
Directors has granted the following options:

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one share.

Expiration 
year

Exercise price 
in NOK

per share

2012 2011

2012  6-15  - 9 
2012  16-25  - 26 
2013 3 180 180 
2013 6-15 6  - 
2013  16-25 158 151 
2013  26-45 8 8 
2015  26-45 128 128 

Infinite  6-15 32 132 
Infinite  16-25 8 6 

 519  639 

Key executives and members of the Board of Directors own the following shares and options in the company as at 
31 December 2012:

Number of 
shares

Number of 
options

Name 
Function

Erik Osmundsen * Board Chairman  515 502  - 
Espen Fjogstad** Board Observer  750 000  - 
Aril Resen*** Board Member  1 500 000  - 
Eirik Lunde CEO  107 252  280 000 
Tom Nøttveit**** CFO  47 500  75 000 

Note 11 Other current liabilities 2012 2011

Holiday pay provisions  516  354 
Provisions for incurred costs  7 624  3 256 
Value added tax  572  240 
Other current liabilities  163  135 
Total  8 876  3 986 

Total number of outstanding share options as at 31 December 2012 was 518,900 (2011: 638,900). The exercise price has 
been set at the market value of the share when the option was granted.

* Erik Osmundsen - indirectly through ownership interest in Optinvest III AS
** Espen Fjogstad -indirectly through ownership interest in Synesi AS
*** Aril Resen - indirectly through ownership interest in Xfile AS
****Tom Nøttveit - indirectely through Prosperis Invest AS
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Note 12 Intercompany receivables 2012 2011

Intra-group receivables 28 248  842 
Dividends from subsidiaries -  14 033 
Group contributions from subsidiaries 41 147  39 950 
Net balances with companies in the same group 69 396  54 825 

Outstanding group contributions are netted against 
receivables from group subsidiaries.

Specification of Intra-group receivables 2012 2011
Telio Telecom AS 27 803  - 
Telio Telecom AG  8  11 
Telio Nehterlands BV  130  738 
Tellio APS  308  93 

28 248  842 
Specification of Dividends from subsidiaries
Telio SA -  14 033 

-  14 033 

Note 13 Intercompany liabilities 2012 2011

Short-term liabilities to group companies 7 392  32 096 
Group contribution to subsidiaries 5 795
Total 13  187  32 096 

Specification of short-term liabilites to group companies:

Telio IP Services BV 4 258  12 541 
Telio SA  3 763  1 039 
Telio Telecom AS  -  18 516 
Gojitek AS (629)  - 
Total 7 392  32 096 

Note 14 Transactions with related parties

Telio Holding ASA has agreements with the companies Synesi AS (Espen Fjogstad) and Creo Advisors AS (Arne Reinemo) relating to 
the delivery of consulting services as required. Arne Reinemo owns shares in Telio Holding ASA through Siljan Industrier AS.

2012 2011
Synesi AS  40  105 
Creo Advisors AS  309  55 

Total  349  160 

- of which reimbursement of expenses  9  57 

The company has a recognised dividends from Telio SA of 26 752 and Telio IP Services BV of 8 075 which have been 
presented net of inter-company payables to the same entities in the balance sheet.
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Note 16 Provisions for contingent liabilities
2012 2011

Provisions as at 1 January  699  615 
Recognised as an expense during the year  (40)  84 
Provisions as at 31 December  659  699 
The provisions are related to soscial security tax for allotted options.

Note 15 Guarantees
Telio Holding ASA has furnished a guarantee for Telio SA and Telio Telecom AS to Svea Finans NUF (factoring 
agreement at a maximum of NOK 40.000.000). For Telio Telecom AS to Telenor Telecom Solutions AS  
(internetworking agreement NOK 12.000.000) and IBM Global Finance AS (agreement relating to the financing of 
adapters and hardware - NOK 8.000.000) all financed by a bankguarantee on NOK 15.494.200.

Telio Holding ASA has issued a capital adequacy guarantee for the subsubsidiary Teliofoni AB, which has negative 
equity. This guarantee entails that the company must redeem obligations that Teliofoni AB is not able to service 
itself.

Telio Holding ASA has issued a guarantee for continued operations until 31 December 2013 for the subsubsidiary 
Tellio ApS which has negative equity.

Telio Holding ASA has issued a guarantee to KPN in the Netherlands for the internetworking agreement entered 
into with the subsubsidiary Telio Netherlands BV. This guarantee entails that the company must redeem obligations 
that Telio Netherlands BV is not able to service itself.

Telio Holding ASA has issued a guarantee to Curabill in Switzerland for an invoicing and factoring agreement 
entered into with the subsubsidiary Telio Telecom AG. This guarantee entails that the company must redeem 
obligations that Telio Telecom AG is not able to service itself.

Telio Holding ASA has on behalf of Tellio ApS given guarantee to Post Danmark AS and Post Danmark AS 
Logistik limited to DKK 100,000.
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Note 17: Capital commitments
On 19 December 2012, Telio Holding ASA and TeliaSonera Norge Holding AB signed an agreement whereby 
Telio shall acquire TeliaSonera’s wholly owned subsidiary NextGenTel AS. Through the acquisition, Telio will become 
number three provider of fixed broadband in the Norwegian market and the number two provider of xDSL 
broadband. The acquisition price is NOK 601 million on an enterprise value basis without any interest-bearing 
debt, but with cash holdings of NOK 30 million at closing of the acquisition. The acquisition is financed through 
senior loan facilities from Nordea totalling NOK 500 million and NOK 100 million in new shares. The acquisition 
represents a step-change for Telio as the company more than doubles its size and significantly broadens it product 
offering in its core Norwegian market. The acquisition was completed on 31 January  2013. For more detailed 
information, reference is made to the stock exchange notice published on 20 December 2012 and an Information 
Memorandum published on 20 February 2013.

The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred: 

Consideration transferred
Own cash 1
Equity instruments to T.D.Veen AS ( 1.200.000 shares) 30
Equity instruments to TeliaSonera  Norge Holding AB ( 2,690,480 shares) 70
Term loan in Nordea 200
Bridge-loan in Nordea until planned bond issue in 2013 300
Consideration transferred 601

At completion of the acqusition on 31 January 2013, the 1,2 millon shares to T.D.Veen AS were issued at NOK 25 per 
share. The 2,69 million consideration shares to TeliaSonera were issued based on a volume weighted share price of  
NOK 26,02 per share.
The following is based upon the Company’s preliminary puchase price allocation analysis and is subject to change.

Preliminary PPA *)
Purchase price 601
Net asset at historical cost in NextGenTel AS after distribution of excess cash. -428
Excess value to be allocated to acquired net assets 173
Estimated adjustments to carrying value acquired net assets:
Intangible assets (write down) -59
Deferred tax 17
Goodwill 216
Excess value 173

*) When the closing balance is finalised the consideration paid of NOK 601 million presented as a basis for the 
calculation of the goodwill will also be modified in the final PPA, and have a direct impact of the goodwill that would 
be presented in the final PPA. The PPA is beeing prepared by a third party and is not finalaised at this stage.
The goodwill recognised is based on the believes that this transaction not only secures Telio’s in-house capabilities 
and delivery of broadband services, but also significantly expands Telio’s customer base. The combined entity will 
thus have substantial potential for cross-selling of services to the combined company’s customer portofolio. 
Furthermore, the combined entity will have significant potential for realizing scale benefits and more cost effective 
operations.
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Condensed balance sheet post PPA of acquiered assets and liabilities:

ASSETS
Intangible assets 159 000
Goodwill 216 000
Property and land 53 000
Machinery and Fixtures 201 000
Accounts receivables 152 000
Other receivables 38 000
Cash and cash equivalents 30 000
Total assets 849 000

LIABILITIES
Accounts payables 78 000
Other current liabilities 170 000
Total liabilities 248 000
Purchase price 601 000

Condenced 2012 profit and loss information for NetxtGenTel and Telio (pro forma):

Sales revenues 1 316 499
Net operating Income 1 316 499

Cost of materials 612 040
Payroll and related cost 220 167
Depreciation 140 966
Other operating expenses 277 460
Total operating expenses 1 250 633

Profit/loss from operations 65 866
Net financial items -26 312

PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAXES 39 554
Income tax -11 476
Results 28 078

Transaction costs expensed in 2012 is NOK 5 million.

The following table presents proforma financial information as if the transaction described above had occurred as of 
1 January 2012. This information is based upon the historical financial information of Telio and NextGenTel and 
includes the effects of conforming accouning policies and the estimated purchase price adjustments resulting 
from the acquisition.



Directors’ responsibility statement

Today, the board of directors and the chief executive officer reviewed and approved the board of directors’ report and 
the consolidated and separate annual financial statements for Telio Holding ASA, for the year ended as of 31 December 
2012 (annual report 2012). Telio Holding ASA consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs and IFRICs as adopted by the EU and additional disclosure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting Act, 
and that should be applied as of 31 December 2012. The separate financial statements for Telio Holding ASA have been 
prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and Norwegian accounting standards as of 31 December 
2012. The board of directors’ report for the group and the parent company is in accordance with the requirements in 
the Norwegian Accounting Act and Norwegian accounting standard no 16, as of 31 December 2012.

To the best of our knowledge:

- the consolidated and separate annual financial statements for 2012 have been prepared in accordance with   
 applicable financial reporting standards 
- the consolidated and separate annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,   
 financial position and profit as a whole as of 31 December 2012 for the group and the parent company
- the board of directors’ report for the group and the parent company includes a fair review of
 o the development and performance of the business and the position of the group and
  the parent company
 o the principal risks and uncertainties the group and the parent company face

Oslo, 19 March 2013

The Board of Directors in
Telio Holding ASA

 Aril Resen                     Erik Osmundsen           Liv Bergtorsdottir
                  (sign.)                                               Chairman of the Board          (sign.)
                                  (sign.)                         

            Arnhild Schia                  Haakon Dyrnes                                      Eirik Lunde
                 (sign.)                           (sign.)                                       CEO
                                                      (sign.)
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Telio Holding ASA - Guidelines on Corporate Governance

Telio is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and is subject to Norwegian securities legislation and stock 
exchange regulations. In this respect, the company complies with the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance based on the latest revision as of 23 October 2012 (available at www.nues.no). The topic of corporate 
governance is discussed and reviewed by the board of directors annually or more often if deemed necessary. This
 includes all documents related to corporate governance and the following description of the company’s corporate 
governance guidelines which forms an integral part of the company’s annual report for 2012. An important aim of these 
guidelines is to define the roles and responsibilities between the governing bodies of the company:

1. Reporting on corporate governance
The board has decided that the company’s guidelines for corporate governance should be based on the Norwegian Code of 
Practice for Corporate Governance. Telio’s guidelines for corporate governance aim to strengthen the confidence in the company 
and contribute to optimal added value over time, to the benefit of shareholders, employees and other stakeholders. In order to 
comply with the Code of Practice, the company will apply the “follow or explain principle”. It is the company’s aim to follow all 
recommendations in the Code of Practice. Instances where Telio’s guidelines depart from the Code of Practice will be followed 
by an explanation. 
Telio’s corporate values and ethical guidelines are an important foundation for these guidelines on corporate 
governance. Telio’s corporate values are: 
 • Innovative: - In Telio we strive to build a culture that inspires innovation and continuous improvement through all  
    fields of our business
 • Respectful: - In Telio we respect our customers, shareholders, colleagues and partners by being accountable and 
    com mitted to deliver results and quality. 
   We emphasize being honest, showing empathy and always being service minded
 • Simplistic: - In Telio we strive for simplicity in our communication, operations, product portfolio and 
   development process
 • Courageous: -In Telio we dare to think different, dare to do the impossible, dare to challenge the existing, 
   dare to prioritize
 • Fun: - In Telio we celebrate the success, achievements and challenges!
The company is working to establish, but has not yet established, specific guidelines on corporate social responsibility.

2. Operations
The objective of the company is stated in the Articles of Association to be as follows: 
“The company’s business is to develop and sell IP based telephony solutions, render consultancy services, and 
participate in other activities.” 
It is the board of directors’ view that the company’s business is clearly stated in the Articles of Association, that the company, 
within the objectives stated in the Articles of Association, has distinct goals and strategies for its business. The company’s goals 
and principal strategies are discussed in the board of directors’ report. 

3. Equity and dividend 
Equity
Telio will at all times strive to have a strong balance sheet with a sufficiently high equity ratio. The board considers the equity to 
be satisfactory.

Dividend policy
The dividend policy of the company is to distribute an annual dividend to its shareholders. It is Telio’s intention to return to its 
shareholders an amount of 2/3 of consolidated profit after tax. The dividend level is a balance between the shareholders wish for a 
regular direct return on investment and the company’s need to retain capital for development of the business. Therefore, the level 
of dividend may be higher or lower than 2/3 of profit after tax, depending on the company’s evaluation of expected cash flows, 

Owners 
• Shareholders
• General meeting

Board CEO
• Management
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capital expenditure plans, financing requirements and appropriate 
financial flexibility. A dividend will be paid as soon as possible after a decision by the AGM. The company’s dividend policy will 
be affected by the acquisition of NextGenTel AS and the limited financial flexibility under the covenants of the loan agreements.

Capital increase
At the ordinary general meeting on 12 April 2012 it was resolved to authorize the board of Directors to increase the company’s 
share capital as follows: 
 • The share capital may be increased by up to NOK 944,635 for consideration in acquisitions and strategic 
    investments and capital increases done to provide necessary financing for the company’s business. 
    The authority remains in force until the next ordinary general meeting, however not 
    longer than for 18 months.
 • The share capital may be increased by up to NOK 25,000 in connection with the company’s incentive and   
       option programs.

Purchase of treasury shares
The company’s articles of association do not govern the ability to purchase treasury shares or issue shares. This is governed 
through decisions by the general meeting. The general meeting on 12 April 2012 also granted the board of directors authority to 
purchase own shares at an aggregate face value of NOK 193,927 (equal to 10 per cent of total 
outstanding share capital). This authority remains in force until and including the next ordinary general meeting, 
however no longer than for 18 months. The shares shall be acquired at an amount per share of between NOK 0.1 and the market 
price plus 10% of the market price, maximum NOK 100. 

4. Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions with close associates 
Class of shares
Telio has one class of shares, and each share entitles to one vote at the company’s general meeting. 
Increase of share capital
If the board, in accordance with proxy given by the AGM, decides to derogate from the shareholders’ pre-emption rights 
pursuant to the public limited liability companies act, then this decision will be justified in a stock exchange notice in connection 
with the capital increase.

Trading in treasury shares
Transactions in the company’s own shares (share buy-back) are carried out through the Oslo Stock Exchange at 
prevailing stock exchange prices. The company emphasizes equal treatment of shareholders when it comes to price sensitive 
information. Telio Holding ASA is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and is therefore obliged to follow all relevant information 
requirements. The company publishes all price sensitive information to the stock market through relevant information systems 
and also on the company’s web site at www.telioholding.no.

Transactions with close associates
In the board’s opinion, there have been no material transactions between the company and shareholders, members of the board, 
members of the executive management or close associates of any such parties in 2012 except for a loan agreement with T. D. 
Veen AS and a subsequent directed share issue in connection with the financing of the acquisition of NextGenTel in 2013. 
Related party transactions are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
Guidelines for directors and corporate management
Guidelines for directors and corporate management in the event of conflict of interests are covered in the company’s ethical 
guidelines. 

5. Freely negotiable shares 
All shares in Telio are freely negotiable. All shares are publicly traded and there are no trade barriers. All Telio’s 
shareholders are entitled to the same dividend payments, and have equal rights in the event of share capital increases (unless 
waived by the general meeting).

6. General meetings 
The board of directors and the person chairing the meeting should make appropriate arrangements for the general meeting to 
vote separately on each candidate nominated for election to the company’s corporate bodies. The chairman, the nomination 
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committee and the auditor will be present at the general meeting. The board members are encouraged to attend, however, since 
the board also has foreign members it is not always practical for everyone to attend. 
Arrangements are in place to ensure an independent chairman for the general meeting. For shareholders who 
cannot attend the meeting in person, information is given in the notice to the general meeting on how to be 
represented through a proxy. The company will nominate a person who will be available to vote on behalf of 
shareholders as their proxy. A proxy form allows separate voting instructions to be given for each matter to be 
considered by the meeting and for each of the candidates nominated for election.
The 2013 AGM is scheduled for 24 May. Minutes of general meetings are made available through the stock exchange 
information system and on the company’s web site.

7. Nomination committee 
According to the company’s Articles of Association, the company shall have a nomination committee. The nomination 
committee shall issue an explained proposal to the general meeting regarding the election of shareholder elected board 
members. The nomination committee shall consist of from two to three members. The members of the committee shall be 
elected by the company’s annual general meeting for two years at a time. The general meeting also appoints the committee’s 
chairman. The general meeting determines the remuneration of the committee’s members and may also resolve instructions for 
the nomination committee’s work. The nomination committee’s costs are covered by the company.

8. Corporate assembly and board of directors, composition and independence 
Telio does not have a corporate assembly. The company aims to ensure a balanced composition of the board of 
directors taking into account the competence, experience and relevant background of the individuals. The composition of the 
board of directors complies with the requirements stated in the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance with re-
spect to the directors’ independence towards the company’s management and towards the company’s material business contacts. 
The directors’ independence is further demonstrated by the fact that there are few cases of disqualification of members in cases 
considered by the board of directors. There are no representatives from executive personnel on the board of directors. The board 
consists of five members: Erik Osmundsen (chairman), Aril Resen, Liv Bergtorsdottir, Arnhild Schia and Haakon Dyrnes. All 
board members are considered to be independent of the company’s management and material business contacts. The directors 
are elected for two-year terms. Board members are encouraged to own shares in the company.
Additional information on each of the directors, their experience, qualifications and ownership of options/shares in Telio is 
available at www.telioholding.no.

9. The work of the board of directors 
Responsibilities of the board
The board of directors’ duties are laid down by Norwegian law. The board has the ultimate responsibility for 
managing the Group and supervising the Group’s operations which should be conducted in accordance with the Articles of 
Association and guidelines and framework given by the shareholders through the general meeting. The work of the board of 
directors includes the following main areas: strategy, organization, control and other tasks. The board defines the objectives for 
the financial structure and approves the Group’s plans and budgets. Issues of significant financial or strategic importance are 
handled by the board. The board hires the CEO and determines the CEO’s work instructions, authority and benefits.
Discussions of any matter in which the chairman is, or has been, actively involved will be chaired by some other 
member of the board.

Board instructions
The company has established instructions and guidelines for the work of the board. The board instructions cover the following 
items: the purpose of the work of the board, notification and content of board meetings, the composition of the board – 
resources, rights and duties, work plan and the relation to the CEO. 

– his tasks and duties towards the board, framework and main tasks for work of the board, board decisions, the keeping of 
minutes and notification for general meeting and the secretary function.

Instructions to the CEO
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the board and the executive management. The CEO is responsible for the 
Group’s day-to-day operations. The board has established separate instructions for the CEO. 



68Telio Holding ASA
Annual Report 2012

Financial reporting
The board of directors receives monthly financial reports from the administration and an overview of important key perfor-
mance indicators of a financial and operational nature. 

Board meetings
The board schedules board meetings in an annual plan for the work of the board. Normally, 6-8 board meetings are held during 
a calendar year. 4 meetings are in connection with the release of quarterly financial results and there is one strategy session 
mid-year and a follow-up strategy and budget/planning meeting in December. Additional meetings are convened on an ad hoc 
basis.

All board members receive regular information on the operations of the company and background information related to the 
scheduled board meetings is sent out well in advance of the meetings. The agenda for the board meetings are agreed upon 
between the CEO and the Chairman. In addition to the board members, the board meetings are normally attended by an 
observer to the board, the CEO, the CFO and the CTO.
In a board meeting in December, the board draws up a plan for the work of the board for the following year. 

Board committees
The company has established a nomination committee and an audit committee. The company has evaluated the 
composition of the audit committee and concluded that the audit committee will comprise of all board members. The company 
has evaluated the establishment of a compensation committee and concluded that this task will be governed by the full board 
(the board has five members).

Evaluation of the board’s work
The board will perform an annual evaluation of its own work during the last year. 
  
10. Risk management and internal control
The Group has established a risk management process for identifying, evaluating and monitoring/mitigating risks related to 
Telio’s business. Risks are identified and evaluated with respect to probability of occurrence and the impact of the risk. Actions 
are then defined in order to monitor or mitigate the risk. This process involves all departments and executive management before 
the outcome is reported to and reviewed by the board at least annually.
In addition, risk management and internal control is performed through various processes within the Group, both on a board 
level and in daily management of the company. The board performs risk management and internal 
control through board meetings. Each month the board receives a board report from management outlining the financial and 
operational performance of the company. An annual planning and budgeting process which ends with a budget approved by the 
board sets the framework for the coming year. In this process, the board carries out a review of the company’s most important 
areas of exposure to risk. 
Risk management and internal control on a management level is carried out through monthly reviews of financial 
performance. Financial risk management and internal control procedures are carried out both on a group level and in each 
subsidiary. 

The board presents a review of the Group’s financial status in the annual directors’ Report including a description of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control.
There are currently no internal control routines in place for following up the Group’s corporate values and ethical guidelines.

11. Remuneration to the board of directors 
Remuneration to the board of directors is decided at the annual general meeting. The board’s remuneration is not linked to the 
financial results. The board does not plan to use options as incentive for board members. For further information about 
remuneration, see note 25 to the financial statements.

12. Remuneration to the executive management 
Remuneration to the company’s Chief Executive Officer is decided by the board of directors once a year. The remuneration 
guidelines for executive management and details of remuneration to executive management are disclosed in the notes to the 



financial statements. See note 25.

13. Information and communication 
Telio aims to have a financial reporting in which investors have confidence. The company endeavors to give accurate and 
sufficiently extensive information each quarter and publish this information as quickly as possible. The company does not give 
concrete guidance on future revenue and results. The company will ensure that all relevant information is accessible for the 
market. Information will be given shareholders and other parties in the market simultaneously and with the most efficient 
methods. All financial information, including various company presentations, may be found at Telio’s web site, and the company 
ensures that all shareholders have equal access to financial information. 
Responsibility for investor relations and price sensitive information rests with the company’s CEO and CFO. In 
meetings with shareholders, analysts and others, special emphasis is given to not discussing issues that are considered to be price 
sensitive. The Group’s financial calendar is published through the Oslo Stock Exchange and is also available on the corporate 
website. The board has established guidelines for contact with shareholders outside the general 
meeting. 

14. Take-over 
The board of Director’s primary objective is to give the best possible long term return on investment for the
 shareholders. Unless specific conditions apply, the board will not prevent or make obstacles in the event that a bid is made for 
the company or its shares. In such situations, the board will evaluate the offer(s), where an independent 
valuation will be included in the board’s evaluation, and make a statement which is communicated to the shareholders. 
Any agreement with the bidder that acts to limit the company’s ability to arrange other bids for the company’s shares will only be 
entered into where it is self-evident that such an agreement is in the common interest of the company and its shareholders. This 
provision will also apply to any agreement on the payment of financial compensation to the bidder if the bid does not proceed. 
Any financial compensation will be limited to the costs the bidder has incurred in making the bid.

Agreements entered into between the company and the bidder that are material to the market’s evaluation of the bid will be 
publicly disclosed no later than at the same time as the announcement that the bid will be made is published.
In the event of a take-over bid for the company’s shares, the company’s board of directors will not exercise mandates or pass any 
resolutions with the intention of obstructing the take-over bid unless this is approved by the general meeting following 
announcement of the bid.

If an offer is made for the company’s shares, the company’s board of directors will issue a statement making a 
recommendation as to whether shareholders should or should not accept the offer. The board’s statement on the offer will make 
it clear whether the views expressed are unanimous, and if this is not the case it will explain the basis on which specific members 
of the board have excluded themselves from the board’s statement. The board will arrange a valuation from an independent 
expert. The valuation will include an explanation, and will be made public no later than at the time of the public disclosure of the 
board’s statement. Any transaction that is in effect a disposal of the company’s activities will be decided by a general meeting.

15. Auditor 
Telio uses the same firm of auditors in the parent company and all subsidiaries of significance. The auditors may be used as 
advisors in circumstances when services are permissible under independence rules and approved by the audit committee. The 
board has not found it necessary to outline written guidelines for management’s use of the auditors for services other than audit. 
However, such assignments are normally discussed at board level before the assignment is given to the auditors. The auditors are 
not used as advisors for strategic issues or in connection with operational tasks for the company. The auditor participates in the 
board meeting that approves the annual financial statements, and in the same meeting will give its opinions as to the company’s 
accounting principles, risk areas, internal control and accounting routines. The company’s internal control is reviewed by the 
auditor at least once a year. The auditor is annually presenting to the audit committee a plan for the audit. The board ensures that 
the board and the auditor may discuss relevant issues without the presence of management. The audit fees are approved at the 
annual general meeting and are described in the notes to the financial statements. 
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Company Facts

Telio Holding ASA
Harbitzalleen 2A
P.O. Box 54 Skøyen
0212 Oslo

Telephone:    –+47 2167 3500
Homepage:    www.telioholding.no

Company reg. number: 985 968 098
Founded:   12 August 2003

Board of Directors
Erik Osmundsen (Chairman)
Aril Resen
Liv Bergtorsdottir
Arnhild Schia
Haakon Dyrnes

Group Management
Eirik Lunde, Chief Executive Officer
Tom Nøttveit, Chief Financial Officer
Sven Ole Skrivervik, Chief Technology Officer
Nina Forsberg Mathiesen, Director Customer Services
Jens Hetland, Sales & Marketing Director (Residential)
Thomas Gunleiksrud, Sales & Marketing Director (Business)
Erik Trondsen, Product Director

Investor Relations
Tom Nøttveit, Chief Financial Officer
Telephone: +47 4153 9714
Email address: tom.nottveit@telio.no

Financial Calendar
1st quarter 2013: 24 April at 09:00
2nd quarter 2013: 21 August at 09:00
3rd quarter 2013: 29 October at 09:00

Annual General Meeting: 24 May 2013 at 14:00

Equity Research Coverage
Company  Contact  Phone
Carnegie   Espen Torgersen +47 22 00 93 00
SEB Enskilda  Peder Strand  +47 21 00 85 00

70Telio Holding ASA
Annual Report 2012


